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Queenstown Primary School

Members of the Board
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Name Position How Position Gained

Term 

Expired/ 

Expires

Jeannie Galavazi Presiding Member Elected Sep 2025

Fiona Cavanagh Principal ex Officio

Richie Heap Parent Representative Elected Sep 2025

Katie Hart Staff Representative Elected Sep 2025

Newell Hodgson Parent Representative Elected Sep 2025

Amanda Robinson Parent Representative Elected Sep 2025

Ebony Webster Parent Representative Co-opted Sep 2025

Dave Finlayson Parent Representative Elected Sep 2025

Jennifer Hughes Parent Representative Co-opted Sep 2025

Simon Haslett Parent Representative Co-opted Jun 2024

In Attendance
Carly Blackbourn Board Secretary Mar 2024
Yvonne Westra Board Secretary
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Queenstown Primary School

Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2024 2023

Notes Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual
$ $ $

Revenue

Government Grants 2 6,782,250      6,655,257      6,126,554      

Locally Raised Funds 3 572,215         402,338         755,187         

Interest 31,776           20,000           30,862           

Total Revenue 7,386,241      7,077,595      6,912,603      

Expense

Locally Raised Funds 3 148,702         133,660         138,393         

Learning Resources 4 4,280,465      4,539,893      4,242,667      

Administration 5 368,704         314,274         352,743         

Interest 7,271             3,425             10,958           

Property 6 2,534,543      2,110,477      1,930,820      

Loss on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 509                -                 -                 

Total Expense 7,340,194      7,101,729      6,675,581      

Net Surplus / (Deficit) for the year 46,047           (24,134)          237,022         

Other Comprehensive Revenue and Expense -                 -                 -                 

Total Comprehensive Revenue and Expense for the Year 46,047           (24,134)          237,022         

The above Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

notes which form part of these financial statements.

3



DRAFT

Queenstown Primary School

Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2024 2023

Notes Actual
Budget 

(Unaudited)
Actual

$ $ $

Equity at 1 January 1,960,661      1,960,661      1,858,039      

Total comprehensive revenue and expense for the year 46,047           (24,134)          237,022         

Distributions to Ministry of Education 17 (160,315)        (213,029)        (200,000)        

Contribution - Furniture and Equipment Grant 29,995           -                 65,600           

Equity at 31 December 1,876,388      1,723,498      1,960,661      

Accumulated comprehensive revenue and expense 1,876,388      1,723,498      1,960,661      

Equity at 31 December 1,876,388      1,723,498      1,960,661      

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes which 

form part of these financial statements.
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Queenstown Primary School

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2024

2024 2024 2023

Notes Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual
$ $ $

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 7 502,333         151,750         426,726         

Accounts Receivable 8 339,890         491,364         491,364         

GST Receivable 34,470           36,633           36,633           

Prepayments 29,439           124,685         124,685         

Inventories 9 1,111             1,487             1,487             

Investments 10 301,199         284,190         284,190         

Funds Receivable for Capital Works Projects 17 11,087           -                 -                 

1,219,529      1,090,109      1,365,085      

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable 12 421,724         433,387         433,387         

Revenue Received in Advance 13 21,378           35,965           35,965           

Provision for Cyclical Maintenance 14 49,006           20,510           39,520           

Finance Lease Liability 15 38,339           62,554           62,554           

Funds held in Trust 16 5,786             205                205                

Funds held for Capital Works Projects 17 217,448         26,169           26,169           

753,681         578,790         597,800         

Working Capital Surplus 465,848         511,319         767,285         

Non-current Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 11 1,547,179      1,367,299      1,340,846      

1,547,179      1,367,299      1,340,846      

Non-current Liabilities

Provision for Cyclical Maintenance 14 118,359         107,884         100,234         

Finance Lease Liability 15 17,108           47,236           47,236           

Funds held in Trust 16 1,172             -                 -                 

136,639         155,120         147,470         

Net Assets 1,876,388      1,723,498      1,960,661      

Equity 1,876,388      1,723,498      1,960,661      

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes which form part of 

these financial statements.
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Queenstown Primary School

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2024 2023

Note Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual
$ $ $

Cash flows from Operating Activities

Government Grants 1,263,651      1,086,843      1,201,950      
Locally Raised Funds 659,379         340,738         456,570         

International Students 56,800           61,600           98,944           
Goods and Services Tax (net) 2,163             -                 (28,496)          
Payments to Employees (910,054)        (666,842)        (818,426)        

Payments to Suppliers (660,100)        (714,214)        (798,091)        

Interest Paid (7,271)            (3,425)            (10,958)          

Interest Received 30,793           20,000           28,212           

Net cash from Operating Activities 435,361         124,700         129,705         

Cash flows from Investing Activities

Purchase of Property Plant & Equipment (357,921)        (186,647)        (29,974)          

Purchase of Investments (17,009)          -                 (12,857)          

Net cash (to) Investing Activities (374,930)        (186,647)        (42,831)          

Cash flows from Financing Activities

Furniture and Equipment Grant 29,995           -                 65,600           

Distributions to Ministry of Education (160,315)        (213,029)        (200,000)        

Finance Lease Payments (51,896)          -                 (44,589)          

Funds Administered on Behalf of Other Parties 197,392         -                 48,677           

Net cash from/(to) Financing Activities 15,176           (213,029)        (130,312)        

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 75,607           (274,976)        (43,438)          

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 7 426,726         426,726         470,164         

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7 502,333         151,750         426,726         

The Statement of Cash Flows records only those cash flows directly within the control of the School. This means centrally 

funded teachers' salaries, use of land and buildings grant and expense, and other notional items have been excluded. 

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes which form part of these 

financial statements.

6



DRAFT

Queenstown Primary School

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

1. Statement of Accounting Policies

1.1.  Reporting Entity

1.2.  Basis of Preparation
Reporting Period

Basis of Preparation

Financial Reporting Standards Applied

PBE Accounting Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime

Measurement Base

Presentation Currency

Specific Accounting Policies

Critical Accounting Estimates And Assumptions

Cyclical Maintenance

A school recognises its obligation to maintain the Ministry’s buildings in a good state of repair as a provision for cyclical 

maintenance. This provision relates mainly to the painting of the school buildings. The estimate is based on the school’s best 

estimate of the cost of painting the school and when the school is required to be painted, based on an assessment of the 

school’s condition. During the year, the Board assesses the reasonableness of its painting maintenance plan on which the 

provision is based.  Cyclical maintenance is disclosed at note 14.

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis unless otherwise noted in a specific accounting policy.

These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars, rounded to the nearest dollar.

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 

the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Actual results 

may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 

in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

Queenstown Primary School (the School) is a Crown entity as specified in the Crown Entities Act 2004 and a school as 

described in the Education and Training Act 2020. The Board is of the view that the School is a public benefit entity for 

financial reporting purposes.

The financial statements have been prepared for the period 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 and in accordance with 

the requirements of the Education and Training Act 2020. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, and the accounting policies have been consistently 

applied throughout the period.

The Education and Training Act 2020 requires the School, as a Crown entity, to prepare financial statements in accordance 

with generally accepted accounting practice. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting practice in New Zealand, applying Public Sector Public Benefit Entity (PBE) Standards Reduced 

Disclosure Regime as appropriate to public benefit entities that qualify for Tier 2 reporting. The School is considered a Public 

Benefit Entity as it meets the criteria specified as 'having a primary objective to provide goods and/or services for community 

or social benefit and where any equity has been provided with a view to supporting that primary objective rather than for 

financial return to equity holders'. 

The School qualifies for Tier 2 as the school is not publicly accountable and is not considered large as it falls below the 

expenditure threshold of $33 million per year. All relevant reduced disclosure concessions have been taken.
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Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Critical Judgements in applying accounting policies

Classification of leases

Recognition of grants

1.3.  Revenue Recognition

Government Grants

Other Grants where conditions exist

Management has exercised the following critical judgements in applying accounting policies:

Determining whether a lease is a finance lease or an operating lease requires judgement as to whether the lease transfers 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the school.  A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 

substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee. In contrast, an operating 

lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the 

lessee. 

Judgement is required on various aspects that include, but are not limited to, the fair value of the leased asset, the economic 

life of the leased asset, whether or not to include renewal options in the lease term, and determining an appropriate discount 

rate to calculate the present value of the minimum lease payments. Classification as a finance lease means the asset is 

recognised in the statement of financial position as property, plant and equipment, whereas for an operating lease no such 

asset is recognised. Finance lease liability disclosures are contained in note 15. Future operating lease commitments are 

disclosed in note 22b.

The School reviews the grants monies received at the end of each reporting period and whether any require a provision to 

carry forward amounts unspent. The School believes all grants received have been appropriately recognised as a liability if 

required. Government grants are disclosed at note 2.

The school receives funding from the Ministry of Education. The following are the main types of funding that the School 

receives:

Operational grants are recorded as revenue when the School has the rights to the funding, which is in the year that the 

funding is received. 

Teachers salaries grants are recorded as revenue when the School has the rights to the funding in the salary period to which 

they relate. The grants are not received in cash by the School and are paid directly to teachers by the Ministry of Education. 

The property from which the School operates is owned by the Crown and managed by the Ministry of Education on behalf of 

the Crown. Grants for the use of land and buildings are not received in cash by the School as they equate to the deemed 

expense for using the land and buildings which are owned by the Crown. The School’s use of the land and buildings as 

occupant is based on a property occupancy document as gazetted by the Ministry. The expense is based on an assumed 

market rental yield on the value of land and buildings as used for rating purposes. 

This is a non-cash revenue that is offset by a non-cash expense. The use of land and buildings grants and associated 

expenditure are recorded in the period the School uses the land and buildings.

Other grants are recorded as revenue when the School has the rights to the funding, unless there are unfulfilled conditions 

attached to the grant, in which case the amount relating to the unfulfilled conditions is recognised as a liability and 

recognised as revenue as the conditions are fulfilled. 

Other Ministry Grants for directly funded programs are recorded as revenue when the School has the rights to the funding in 

the period to which they relate to. The grants are not received in cash by the School and are paid directly by the Ministry of 

Education.

The School reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting date. The 

School believes that the estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment, as disclosed in the significant 

accounting policies, are appropriate to the nature of the property, plant and equipment at reporting date. Property, plant and 

equipment is disclosed at note 11.
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Donations, Gifts and Bequests

Interest Revenue

1.4.  Operating Lease Payments

1.5.  Finance Lease Payments

1.6.  Cash and Cash Equivalents

1.7.  Accounts Receivable

1.8.  Inventories

1.9.  Investments

1.10.  Property, Plant and Equipment
Land and buildings owned by the Crown are excluded from these financial statements. The Board’s use of the land and 

buildings as ‘occupant’ is based on a property occupancy document.

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost or, in the case of donated assets, fair value at the date of receipt, less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost or fair value as the case may be, includes those costs that relate 

directly to bringing the asset to the location where it will be used and making sure it is in the appropriate condition for its 

intended use.

Gains and losses on disposals (i.e. sold or given away) are determined by comparing the proceeds received with the 

carrying amounts (i.e. the book value). The gain or loss arising from the disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment 

is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

Interest Revenue earned on cash and cash equivalents and investments is recorded as revenue in the period it is earned.

Donations, gifts and bequests are recognised as an asset and revenue when the right to receive funding or the asset has 

been established unless there is an obligation to return funds if conditions are not met. If conditions are not met, funding is 

recognised as revenue in advance and recognised as revenue when conditions are satisfied.

Bank term deposits are initially measured at the amount invested. Interest is subsequently accrued and added to the 

investment balance. A loss allowance for expected credit losses is recognised if the estimated loss allowance is not trivial.

Improvements funded by the Board to buildings owned by the Crown or directly by the board are recorded at cost, less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense on a 

straight line basis over the term of the lease.

Finance lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The 

finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term on an effective interest basis.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank balances, deposits held at call with banks, and other short term 

highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less, and bank overdrafts. The carrying amount of cash and 

cash equivalents represent fair value.

Short-term receivables are recorded at the amount due, less an allowance for expected credit losses (uncollectable debts). 

The school's receivables are largely made up of funding from the Ministry of Education, therefore the level of uncollectable 

debts is not considered to be material. However, short-term receivables are written off when there is no reasonable 

expectation of recovery.

Inventories are consumable items held for sale and comprised of school uniforms. They are stated at the lower of cost and 

net realisable value. Cost is determined on a first in, first out basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 

ordinary course of activities less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Any write down from cost to net realisable 

value is recorded as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense in the period of the write down. 
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Finance Leases

Depreciation 

The estimated useful lives of the assets are:

 Building Improvements 10-50 years

 Furniture and Equipment 4–15 years

 Information and Communication Technology 2–7 years

 Leased Assets held under a Finance Lease Term of Lease

 Library Resources 12.5% Diminishing value

1.11.  Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Non cash generating assets

1.12.  Accounts Payable

The school does not hold any cash generating assets. Assets are considered cash generating where their primary objective 

is to generate a commercial return. 

Property, plant, and equipment held at cost that have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  If such indication exists, the School 

estimates the asset's recoverable service amount. An impairment loss is recognised as the amount by which the asset’s 

carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service amount. The recoverable service amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 

value less costs to sell and value in use.

Value in use is determined using an approach based on either a depreciated replacement cost approach, restoration cost 

approach, or a service units approach. The most appropriate approach used to measure value in use depends on the nature 

of the impairment and availability of information.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and the carrying 

amount is written down to the recoverable amount. The total impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Accounts Payable represents liabilities for goods and services provided to the School prior to the end of the financial year 

which are unpaid. Accounts Payable are recorded at the amount of cash required to settle those liabilities. The amounts are 

unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

A finance lease transfers to the lessee substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset, whether or 

not title is eventually transferred. At the start of the lease term, finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the 

statement of financial position at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset or the present value of the minimum lease 

payments. The finance charge is charged to the surplus or deficit over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic 

rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its useful 

life. If there is no reasonable certainty whether the school will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the asset is fully 

depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

Property, plant and equipment, except for library resources, are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a straight 

line basis. Library resources are depreciated on a diminishing value basis. Depreciation of all assets is reported in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

In determining fair value less costs to sell the school engages an independent valuer to assess market value based on the 

best available information. 

The reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. A previously recognised impairment loss is 

reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable service amount 

since the last impairment loss was recognised.  
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1.13.  Employee Entitlements
Short-term employee entitlements

Long-term employee entitlements

1.14.  Revenue Received in Advance

1.15.  Funds Held in Trust

The School holds sufficient funds to enable the funds to be used for their intended purpose at any time.

1.16.  Funds held for Capital Works

The School holds sufficient funds to enable the funds to be used for their intended purpose at any time.

1.17.  Shared Funds

1.18.  Provision for Cyclical Maintenance

Shared Funds are held on behalf of a cluster of participating schools as agreed with the Ministry of Education. In instances 

where funds are outside of the School's control, these amounts are not recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Revenue and Expense. The School holds sufficient funds to enable the funds to be used for their intended purpose.

The property from which the School operates is owned by the Crown, and is vested in the Ministry. The Ministry has 

gazetted a property occupancy document that sets out the Board’s property maintenance responsibilities. The Board is 

responsible for maintaining the land, buildings and other facilities on the School site in a state of good order and repair.

Cyclical maintenance, which involves painting of the School, makes up the most significant part of the Board’s 

responsibilities outside the day-to-day maintenance. The provision is a reasonable estimate, based on the school’s best 

estimate of the cost of painting the school and when the School is required to be painted, based on an assessment of the 

school’s condition.

Employee entitlements that are expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period in which the 

employees provide the related service are measured based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. These include 

salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned by non teaching staff, but not yet taken at balance 

date.

Employee benefits that are not expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the reporting period in which 

the employee provides the related service, such as retirement and long service leave, have been calculated on an actuarial 

basis.

The calculations are based on the likely future entitlements accruing to employees, based on years of service, years to 

entitlement, the likelihood that employees will reach the point of entitlement, and contractual entitlement information, and the 

present value of the estimated future cash flows.  Remeasurements are recognised in surplus or deficit in the period in which 

they arise.

Revenue received in advance relates to fees received from students and grants received where there are unfulfilled 

obligations for the School to provide services in the future. The fees or grants are recorded as revenue as the obligations are 

fulfilled and the fees or grants are earned. 

The School holds sufficient funds to enable the refund of unearned fees in relation to international students, should the 

School be unable to provide the services to which they relate. 

Funds are held in trust where they have been received by the School for a specified purpose, or are being held on behalf of 

a third party and these transactions are not recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense. 

The school directly receives funding from the Ministry of Education for capital works projects that are included in the School 

five year capital works agreement. These funds are held on behalf and for a specified purpose. As such these transactions 

are not recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense. 

The School carries out painting maintenance of the whole school over a variety of periods in accordance with the conditional 

assessment of each area of the school. The economic outflow of this is dependent on the plan established by the School to 

meet this obligation and is detailed in the notes and disclosures of these accounts.
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1.19.  Financial Instruments

1.20.  Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.

1.21.  Budget Figures
The budget figures are extracted from the School budget that was approved by the Board. 

1.22.  Services received in-kind

The financial statements have been prepared on a GST exclusive basis, with the exception of accounts receivable and 

accounts payable which are stated as GST inclusive.

The net amount of GST paid to, or received from, the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing activities, is 

classified as a net operating cash flow in the statements of cash flows. 

From time to time the School receives services in-kind, including the time of volunteers. The School has elected not to 

recognise services received in kind in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense. 

The School’s financial assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and investments. All of these 

financial assets, except for investments that are shares, are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost, using the effective interest method. 

The School’s financial liabilities comprise accounts payable, and finance lease liability. Financial liabilities are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and any gain or loss on derecognition are 

recognised in surplus or deficit. 
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2024 2024 2023

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Government Grants - Ministry of Education 1,258,964      1,086,843        1,223,260      

Teachers' Salaries Grants 3,366,664      3,800,000        3,320,255      

Use of Land and Buildings Grants 2,156,622      1,768,414        1,583,039      

6,782,250      6,655,257        6,126,554      

Local funds raised within the School's community are made up of:

2024 2024 2023

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

Revenue $ $ $

Donations and Bequests 130,677         198,447           234,702         

Fees for Extra Curricular Activities 18,386           16,000             16,917           

Trading 40,870           31,700             42,477           

Fundraising and Community Grants 155,577         54,391             266,903         

Other Revenue 148,948         40,200             65,505           

International Student Fees 77,757           61,600             128,683         

572,215         402,338           755,187         

Expenses

Extra Curricular Activities Costs 113,251         102,360           102,812         

Trading 9,495             7,500               17,100           

Fundraising and Community Grant Costs 13,265           9,250               7,000             

International Student - Employee Benefit - Salaries 3,100             3,100               -                 

International Student - Other Expenses 9,591             11,450             11,481           

148,702         133,660           138,393         

Surplus for the year Locally raised funds 423,513         268,678           616,794         

2024 2024 2023

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Curricular 119,562         130,270           136,949         

Information and Communication Technology 20,752           24,500             25,858           

Employee Benefits - Salaries 3,906,179      4,167,168        3,855,566      

Other Learning Resources 5,618             6,300               3,824             

Staff Development 63,169           51,461             72,428           

Depreciation 165,185         160,194           148,042         

4,280,465      4,539,893        4,242,667      

2024 2024 2023

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Audit Fees 13,904           5,886               5,726             

Board Fees and Expenses 23,457           18,714             14,508           

Legal Fees 383                1,000               339                

Other Administration Expenses 44,229           44,400             48,563           

Employee Benefits - Salaries 263,534         226,274           264,163         

Insurance 13,879           10,500             10,688           

Service Providers, Contractors and Consultancy 9,318             7,500               8,756             

368,704         314,274           352,743         

2.  Government Grants

3.  Locally Raised Funds

4.  Learning Resources

5.  Administration
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2024 2024 2023

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Consultancy and Contract Services 97,697           95,000             92,950           

Cyclical Maintenance 30,525           23,640             23,640           

Adjustment to the Provision- Other Adjustments 8,508             -                   3,370             

Heat, Light and Water 102,239         86,216             93,815           

Rates 11,557           10,000             9,992             

Repairs and Maintenance 30,176           28,907             19,814           

Use of Land and Buildings 2,156,622      1,768,414        1,583,039      

Other Property Expenses 29,035           28,000             28,807           

Employee Benefits - Salaries 68,184           70,300             75,393           

2,534,543      2,110,477        1,930,820      

2024 2024 2023

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Bank Accounts 502,333         151,750           426,726         

502,333         151,750           426,726         

2024 2024 2023

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

Receivables 10,342           183,948           183,948         

Receivables from the Ministry of Education 8,034             17,649             17,649           

Interest Receivable 8,587             7,604               7,604             

Teacher Salaries Grant Receivable 312,927         282,163           282,163         

339,890         491,364           491,364         

Receivables from Exchange Transactions 18,929           191,552           191,552         

Receivables from Non-Exchange Transactions 320,961         299,812           299,812         

339,890         491,364           491,364         

2024 2024 2023

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

School Uniforms 1,111             1,487               1,487             

1,111             1,487               1,487             

9.  Inventories

6.  Property

The Use of Land and Buildings figure represents 5% of the school’s total property value. Property values are established as part of the nation-wide 

revaluation exercise that is conducted every 30 June for the Ministry of Education’s year-end reporting purposes. 

8.  Accounts Receivable

Cash and Cash Equivalents for Statement of Cash Flows

Of the $502,333 Cash and Cash Equivalents, $217,448 is held by the School on behalf of the Ministry of Education. These funds have been provided by the 

Ministry as part of the school's 5 Year Agreement funding for upgrades to the school's buildings and includes retentions on the projects, if applicable. The 

funds are required to be spent in 2025 on Crown owned school buildings.

Of the $502,333 Cash and Cash Equivalents, $15,853 of unspent grant funding is held by the School. This funding is subject to conditions which specify how 

the grant is required to be spent. If these conditions are not met, the funds will need to be returned.

7.  Cash and Cash Equivalents

Of the $502,333 Cash and Cash Equivalents, $2,395 of Other Revenue in Advance is held by the School, as disclosed in note 13. 

Of the $502,333 Cash and Cash Equivalents, $3,130 of International Student Fees in advance is held by the School, as disclosed in note 13. 

Of the $502,333 Cash and Cash Equivalents, $6,958 of Funds Held in Trust is held by the School, as disclosed in note 16. 
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The School's investment activities are classified as follows:

2024 2024 2023

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

Current Asset $ $ $

301,199         284,190           284,190         

Total Investments 301,199         284,190           284,190         

11.  Property, Plant and Equipment

Opening 

Balance (NBV) Additions Disposals Impairment Depreciation Total (NBV)

2024 $ $ $ $ $ $

Building Improvements 1,094,719      244,346         -                 -                 (51,171)            1,287,894      

Furniture and Equipment 106,236         102,678         -                 -                 (40,310)            168,604         

Information and Communication Technology 10,270           9,430             -                 -                 (7,829)              11,871           

Leased Assets 110,383         8,672             -                 -                 (62,671)            56,384           

Library Resources 19,238           6,902             (510)               -                 (3,204)              22,426           

Balance at 31 December 2024 1,340,846      372,028         (510)               -                 (165,185)          1,547,179      

The net carrying value of furniture and equipment held under a finance lease is $56,384 (2023: $110,383)

The net carrying value of ICT held under a finance lease is $321 (2023: $801)

2024 2024 2024 2023 2023 2023

Cost or 

Valuation

Accumulated 

Depreciation

Net Book 

Value

Cost or 

Valuation

Accumulated 

Depreciation

Net Book 

Value

$ $ $ $ $ $

Building Improvements 1,996,694      (708,800)        1,287,894      1,752,349      (657,630)          1,094,719      

Furniture and Equipment 782,018         (613,414)        168,604         679,340         (573,104)          106,236         

Information and Communication Technology 171,322         (159,451)        11,871           164,204         (153,934)          10,270           

Leased Assets 165,357         (108,973)        56,384           241,661         (131,278)          110,383         

Library Resources 69,827           (47,401)          22,426           64,638           (45,400)            19,238           

Balance at 31 December 3,185,218      (1,638,039)     1,547,179      2,902,192      (1,561,346)       1,340,846      

2024 2024 2023

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Creditors 75,661           89,967             89,967           

Accruals 15,482           5,886               5,886             

Employee Entitlements - Salaries 320,936         328,994           328,994         

Employee Entitlements - Leave Accrual 9,645             8,540               8,540             

421,724         433,387           433,387         

Payables for Exchange Transactions 421,724         433,387           433,387         

421,724         433,387           433,387         

2024 2024 2023

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Grants in Advance - Ministry of Education 15,853           6,232               6,232             

International Student Fees in Advance 3,130             24,087             24,087           

Other Revenue in Advance 2,395             5,646               5,646             

21,378           35,965             35,965           

13.  Revenue Received in Advance

The carrying value of payables approximates their fair value.

10.  Investments

12.  Accounts Payable

Short-term Bank Deposits

Restrictions 

With the exception of the contractual restrictions relating to the above noted finance leases, there are no other restrictions over the title of the school's 

property, plant and equipment, nor are any property, plant and equipment pledged as security for liabilities.

15



DRAFT

2024 2024 2023

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Provision at the Start of the Year 139,754         139,754           112,744         

Increase to the Provision During the Year 30,525           23,640             23,640           

Use of the Provision During the Year (11,420)          (35,000)            -                 

Other Adjustments 8,508             -                   3,370             

Provision at the End of the Year 167,367         128,394           139,754         

Cyclical Maintenance - Current 49,006           20,510             39,520           

Cyclical Maintenance - Non current 118,359         107,884           100,234         

167,365         128,394           139,754         

2024 2024 2023

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

No later than one year 41,128           69,277             69,277           

Later than One Year 18,260           49,712             49,712           

Future Finance Charges (3,941)            (9,199)              (9,199)            

55,447           109,790           109,790         

Represented by: 

Finance lease liability - Current 38,339           62,554             62,554           

Finance lease liability - Non-current 17,108           47,236             47,236           

55,447           109,790           109,790         

2024 2024 2023

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Funds Held in Trust on Behalf of Third Parties - Current 5,786             205                  205                

Funds Held in Trust on Behalf of Third Parties - Non-current 1,172             -                   -                 

6,958             205                  205                

These funds relate to arrangements where the School is acting as an agent.  These amounts are not revenue or expenses of the School and therefore are 

not included in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

15.  Finance Lease Liability

The School's cyclical maintenance schedule details annual painting & other significant cyclical maintenance work to be undertaken. The costs associated 

with this annual work will vary depending on the requirements during the year. This plan is based on the School's most recent 10 Year Property plan, 

adjusted as identified and confirmed appropriate by the Board, to other reliable sources of evidence.  

14. Provision for Cyclical Maintenance

The School has entered into a number of finance lease agreements for computers and other ICT equipment.  Minimum lease payments payable:

16.  Funds Held in Trust
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Opening Receipts Closing

2024 Balances from MoE Payments Balances

$ $ $ $ $

26,169           434,783         (243,504)        -                   217,448         

-                 -                 (640)               -                   (640)               

-                 -                 (10,447)          -                   (10,447)          

-                 3,935             (3,935)            -                   -                 

-                 19,190           (19,190)          -                   -                 

-                 -                 (160,315)        160,315           -                 

Totals 26,169           457,908         (438,031)        160,315           206,361         

Represented by:

Funds Held on Behalf of the Ministry of Education 217,448         

Funds Receivable from the Ministry of Education (11,087)          

Opening Receipts Board Closing

2023 Balances from MoE Payments Contributions Balances

$ $ $ $ $

52,072           105,508         (131,411)        -                   26,169           

-                 31,323           (31,323)          -                   -                 

Totals 52,072           136,831         (162,734)        -                   26,169           

Represented by:

Funds Held on Behalf of the Ministry of Education 26,169           

18.  Related Party Transactions

19.  Remuneration

Key management personnel compensation

2024 2023

Actual Actual

$ $

Board Members

Remuneration 3,995               3,885             

Leadership Team

Remuneration 464,200           439,498         

Full-time equivalent members 3.00                 3.00               

Total key management personnel remuneration 468,195           443,383         

There are 8 members of the Board excluding the Principal. The Board had held 8 full meetings of the Board in the year. The Board also has Finance (3 

members) and Property (3 members) that meet 8 times a year. As well as these regular meetings, including preparation time, the Presiding member and 

other Board members have also been involved in ad hoc meetings to consider student welfare matters including stand downs, suspensions, and other 

disciplinary matters. 

Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are within a normal supplier or client/recipient relationship on terms 

and condition no more or less favourable than those that it is reasonable to expect the school would have adopted in dealing with the party at arm’s length in 

the same circumstances. Further, transactions with other government agencies for example, Government departments and Crown entities are not disclosed 

as related party transactions when they are consistent with the normal operating arrangements between government agencies and undertaken on the normal 

terms and conditions for such transactions.

Key management personnel of the School include all Board members, Principal, and Deputy Principals.

AMS & Bathroom (Includes Basement & roof) 233730

Flood Damage Remediation 245933

During the year the School received and applied funding from the Ministry of Education for the following capital works projects. The amount of cash held on 

behalf of the Ministry for capital works project is included under cash and cash equivalents in note 7, and includes retentions on the projects, if applicable.

The School is a controlled entity of the Crown, and the Crown provides the major source of revenue to the School. The School enters into transactions with 

other entities also controlled by the Crown, such as: government departments, state-owned enterprises and other Crown entities. Transactions with these 

entities are not disclosed as they occur on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those that it is reasonable to expect the School would have 

adopted if dealing with that entity at arm’s length.

17. Funds Held for Capital Works Projects

Demolition of Building and associated landscaping - 216401

Flood Damage Remediation 245933

Fibre Cable Repair 251241

Fence Hire 251241

Retaining Wall 251241

Board 

Contributions

AMS & Bathroom (Includes Basement & roof) 233730

The Board contributed $182,803 towards Buidlng demolition and associated Landscaping works being undertaken by the Ministry of Education.  Of the 

contribution made by the Board $160,315 was treated as a donation to the Minstry of Education via distribution through equity and $22,488 was recognised 

as an investment and capitalised as a fixed asset.
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Principal 

The total value of remuneration paid or payable to the Principal was in the following bands:   

2024 2023

Actual Actual

Salaries and Other Short-term Employee Benefits: $000 $000

        Salary and Other Payments 200 - 210 180 -190

        Benefits and Other Emoluments 0 - 1 0 - 5

        Termination Benefits 0 - 0 0 - 0

Other Employees

Remuneration 2024 2023

$000 FTE Number FTE Number

100 -110 8.00                 5.00               

110 -120 2.00                 4.00               

120 - 130 1.00                 -                 

130 - 140 -                   1.00               

140 - 150 1.00                 -                 
11.00               10.00             

The disclosure for 'Other Employees' does not include remuneration of the Principal.  

20.  Compensation and Other Benefits Upon Leaving

2024 2023

Actual Actual

Total -$                    2,000$           

Number of People -                      1                    

21.  Contingencies

22.  Commitments

(a) Capital Commitments

         210,989 

         210,989 

The Board receives funding from the Ministry of Education for Capital Works which is disclosed in note 17.

(b) Operating Commitments

(Operating commitments at 31 December 2023: nil)

Contract Name

AMS & Bathroom (Includes Basement & roof) 233730

Total

2024 Capital Commitment

$

At 31 December 2024, the Board had capital commitments of $210,989 (2023:$217,938) as a result of entering the following contracts:

Holidays Act Compliance – Schools Payroll

The Ministry of Education performs payroll processing and payments on behalf of boards, through payroll service provider, Education Payroll Limited. 

The Ministry continues to review the Schools Sector Payroll to ensure compliance with the Holidays Act 2003. An initial remediation payment has been made 

to some current school employees. The Ministry is continuing to perform detailed analysis to finalise calculations and the potential impacts of specific 

individuals. As such, this is expected to resolve the liability for school boards.

Pay Equity Settlement Wash Up amounts

In 2024 the Ministry of Education provided additional funding for non-teaching collective and pay equity agreements. At the date of signing the financial 

statements the School's final entitlement for the year ended 31 December 2024 has not yet been advised.  The School has therefore not recognised an 

asset or a liability regarding this funding wash-up , which is expected to be settled in July 2025.

The number of other employees with remuneration greater than $100,000 was in the following bands: 

There are no contingent liabilities and no contingent assets except as noted below as at 31 December 2024 (Contingent liabilities and assets at 31 

December 2023: nil). 

The total value of compensation or other benefits paid or payable to persons who ceased to be board members, committee members, or employees during 

the financial year in relation to that cessation and the number of persons to whom all or part of that total was payable was as follows:

As at 31 December 2024 the Board has not entered into any operating contracts. 
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23.  Financial Instruments

2024 2024 2023

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Cash and Cash Equivalents          502,333            151,750          426,726 

Receivables          339,890            491,364          491,364 

Investments - Term Deposits          301,199            284,190          284,190 

      1,143,422            927,304       1,202,280 

Payables          421,724            433,387          433,387 

Finance Leases            55,447            109,790          109,790 

Total Financial liabilities measured at amortised Cost          477,171            543,177          543,177 

24. Events After Balance Date

25. Comparatives

There have been a number of prior period comparatives which have been reclassified to make disclosure consistent with the current year.

There were no significant events after the balance date that impact these financial statements.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Total Financial assets measured at amortised cost
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‭Year-End Student Achievement Data Report to the Board‬
‭November 2024‬

‭School-Wide Data‬‭Writing‬‭by‬‭Culture‬‭(2024 versus 2023)‬

‭Asian Students:‬

‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭, 74% of Asian students were either working‬‭within or confidently in writing at the given‬
‭assessment point for term 4.‬

‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023,‬‭84% of all Asian students are achieving their‬‭curriculum expectations and working within‬
‭or confidently in writing at the given assessment point for term 4.‬

‭MELAA Students:‬

‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭, 28% of MELAA students were at the expected‬‭level of achievement across the school.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭, 41% of MELAA students achieved their curriculum‬‭expectations and worked within or‬

‭confidently in writing at the given assessment point for term 4.‬

‭Maori Students:‬

‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭, 73% of Maori students were at the expected‬‭level of achievement across the school.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭, 73% of Maori students achieved curriculum‬‭expectations and worked within or‬

‭confidently in writing at the given assessment point for term 4.‬

‭New Zealand/ Pakeha/ Other European Students:‬

‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭, 83% of New Zealand Europeans and other European‬‭students were at the expected‬
‭level of achievement across the school.‬

‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭, 89% of New Zealand Europeans and other European‬‭students are achieving their‬
‭curriculum expectations and working within or confidently in writing at the given assessment point‬
‭for term 4.‬

‭Other Students:‬

‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭, 75% of Other students were at the expected‬‭level of achievement across the school.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭, 78% of Other students achieved curriculum‬‭expectations and worked within or‬

‭confidently in writing at the given assessment point for term 4‬

‭Pacific Peoples:‬

‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭, 48% of Pacific People were at the expected‬‭level of achievement across the school.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭, 82% of Pacific Peoples achieved their curriculum‬‭expectations and worked within or‬

‭confidently in writing at the given assessment point for term 2.‬

‭So what?‬

‭For Asian students;‬
‭10% drop‬



‭For MELLA students;‬
‭13% drop‬
‭For Māori students;‬
‭Stayed equal- No change‬
‭For NZ European students;‬
‭6% drop‬
‭For Other students;‬
‭3% drop‬
‭For Pacific students;‬
‭34% drop‬

‭●‬ ‭Most students in each cultural group work within or toward their expected curriculum‬
‭level, indicating a generally positive trend across all groups.‬

‭●‬ ‭New Zealand/Pakeha/Other European students have the highest overall achievement at‬
‭83%, with a notable percentage working confidently.‬

‭●‬ ‭MELLA students have the lowest overall achievement at 28%, with none working‬
‭confidently.‬

‭●‬ ‭Maori students show a relatively high percentage (73%) working within their expected‬
‭curriculum level.‬

‭Team Leaders will identify students sitting within each cohort. They can cross-reference‬
‭students against identified target students and the intervention provided. They can implement‬
‭strategies, differentiate learning, and request support from the SENCo.‬

‭School-Wide Data‬‭Reading‬‭b‬‭y‬‭Culture‬‭(2023 versus 2024)‬
‭​‬
‭​‬ ‭Asian students:‬
‭​‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024,‬ ‭71% of Asian students were at the expected‬‭level of achievement.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023,‬‭87% of Asian students are achieving their‬‭curriculum expectations.‬

‭​‬ ‭MELAA students:‬
‭​‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭, 26% of MELAA students were at the expected‬‭level of achievement.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭, 31% of MELAA students are achieving their‬‭curriculum expectations.‬

‭​‬ ‭Maori students:‬
‭​‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭, 82% of Maori students are achieving their‬‭curriculum expectations.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭, 73% of Maori students are achieving their‬‭curriculum expectations.‬

‭​‬ ‭New Zealand/Pakeha/Other European students:‬
‭​‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭, 87% of New Zealand/Pakeha/Other European‬‭students are achieving their‬

‭curriculum expectations.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭, 90% of New Zealand/Pakeha/Other European‬‭students are achieving their‬

‭curriculum expectations.‬



‭●‬ ‭Other People:‬

‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭, 73% of Other People were at the expected‬‭level of achievement.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023,‬‭81% of Other People are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations.‬

‭​‬ ‭Pacific People:‬
‭​‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭, 43% of Pacific People were at the expected‬‭level of achievement.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023,‬‭72% of Pacific People students are achieving‬‭their curriculum expectations.‬

‭So what?‬

‭For Asian students;‬
‭16% drop‬
‭For MELLA students;‬
‭5% drop‬
‭For Māori students;‬
‭9% increase‬
‭For NZ European students;‬
‭3% drop‬
‭For Other students;‬
‭8% drop‬
‭For Pacific students;‬
‭29% drop‬

‭●‬ ‭The highest overall achievement of curriculum expectations is observed among New‬
‭Zealand/Pakeha/Other European students (90%), followed by Asian students (87%).‬

‭●‬ ‭MELLA students have the lowest overall achievement (26%), with none working‬
‭confidently in Reading in term 4.‬

‭●‬ ‭Maori students (82%), Other students (73%), and Asian students (71%) fall in between,‬
‭with varying percentages for each category.‬

‭This analysis highlights disparities in Reading proficiency among different ethnic groups.‬

‭Team Leaders will identify students sitting within each cohort. They can cross-reference‬
‭students against identified target students and the intervention provided. They can implement‬
‭strategies, differentiate learning, and request support from the SENCo.‬



‭School-Wide Data‬‭Mathematics‬‭by‬‭Culture‬‭(2024 versus 2023)‬
‭​‬
‭​‬ ‭Asian students;‬
‭​‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024:‬‭83% of all Asian students are achieving their‬‭curriculum expectations and‬

‭working within or confidently.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭: 90% of all Asian students are achieving their‬‭curriculum expectations.‬

‭​‬ ‭MELAA (Middle Eastern, Latin American, and African):‬
‭​‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭: 49% of MELAA students are achieving their‬‭curriculum expectations and‬

‭working within or confidently in Mathematics.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023:‬‭54% of all MELLA students achieved their‬‭curriculum expectations.‬

‭​‬ ‭Maori students;‬
‭​‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭: 77% of Maori students are achieving their‬‭curriculum expectations and working‬

‭within or confidently in Mathematics.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023:‬‭76% of all Maori students are achieving their‬‭curriculum expectations.‬

‭​‬ ‭New Zealand European, Pakeha, and Other European students;‬
‭​‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024:‬‭87% of students from this cultural group‬‭worked within or confidently in‬

‭Mathematics.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭: 90% of all New Zealand/ Pakeha/ Other European‬‭students achieved their‬

‭curriculum expectations.‬

‭​‬ ‭Other People:‬
‭​‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024:‬‭72% of Pacific Peoples are achieving their‬‭curriculum expectations and working‬

‭within or confidently in Mathematics.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023:‬‭94% of Pacific Peoples are achieving their‬‭curriculum expectations.‬

‭Pacific People:‬

‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024:‬‭38% of Pacific Peoples are achieving their‬‭curriculum expectations and working‬
‭within or confidently in Mathematics.‬

‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023:‬‭59% of Pacific Peoples are achieving their‬‭curriculum expectations.‬

‭So what?‬

‭For Asian students;‬
‭7% drop‬
‭For MELLA students;‬
‭5% drop‬
‭For Māori students;‬
‭1% increase‬



‭For NZ European students;‬
‭3% drop‬
‭For Other students;‬
‭22% drop‬
‭For Pacific students;‬
‭21% drop‬

‭●‬ ‭Across all groups, most students are working within their expected curriculum level.‬
‭●‬ ‭The proportion of students working confidently varies among groups.‬
‭●‬ ‭Pacific Peoples students show a lower overall achievement, with a notable percentage‬

‭working toward their expected curriculum level.‬
‭●‬ ‭Asian, New Zealand/Pakeha/Other European, and Other students generally exhibit higher‬

‭overall achievement in mathematics.‬
‭●‬ ‭MELLA and Pacific Peoples students tend to have lower overall achievement, with a‬

‭significant portion working toward their expected curriculum level.‬

‭Team Leaders will identify students sitting within each cohort. They can cross-reference‬
‭students against identified target students and the intervention provided. They can implement‬
‭strategies, differentiate learning, and request support from the SENCo.‬

‭School-Wide Data‬‭Writing‬‭by‬‭Year Group‬

‭Year 1:‬
‭●‬ ‭2024:‬‭65% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within or‬

‭confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭2023:‬‭65% are achieving their curriculum expectations‬

‭Year 2:‬
‭●‬ ‭2024‬‭: 77% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within or‬

‭confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭2023:‬‭84% are achieving their curriculum expectations‬

‭Year 3:‬
‭●‬ ‭2024:‬‭78% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within or‬

‭confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭2023‬‭: 70% are achieving their curriculum expectations‬

‭Year 4:‬
‭●‬ ‭2022:‬‭80% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within or‬

‭confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭2023:‬‭94% are achieving their curriculum expectations‬

‭Year 5:‬
‭●‬ ‭2024:‬‭86% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within or‬

‭confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭2023:‬‭93% are achieving their curriculum expectations‬



‭Year 6:‬
‭●‬ ‭2024:‬‭79% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within or‬

‭confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭2023:‬‭92% are achieving their curriculum expectations‬

‭Year 7:‬
‭●‬ ‭2024:‬‭77% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within or‬

‭confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭2023‬‭: 83% are achieving their curriculum expectations‬

‭Year 8:‬
‭●‬ ‭2024‬‭: 76% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within or‬

‭confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭2023:‬‭85% are achieving their curriculum expectations‬

‭So what?‬

‭For Year 1 students;‬
‭Stayed equal- No change‬
‭For Year 2 students;‬
‭7% drop‬
‭For Year 3 students;‬
‭8% increase‬
‭For Year 4 students;‬
‭14% drop‬
‭For Year 5 students;‬
‭7% drop‬
‭For Year 6 students;‬
‭13% increase‬
‭For Year 7 students;‬
‭6% drop‬
‭For Year 8 students;‬
‭9% drop‬

‭In summary, Year 1 students are 65%  working within Level 1, with none working confidently.‬
‭Year 2 to Year 8 students exhibit varying levels of achievement in writing, with the majority‬
‭working within their respective curriculum levels, while a small percentage are working toward‬
‭or confidently meeting expectations, requiring attention by the end of the 2025 school year.‬

‭It's also important to note that students in each year level have until the end of specific years‬
‭(ranging from the close of 2024 to the end of 2025) to meet the curriculum milestones for their‬
‭respective levels.‬
‭Overall, the data shows the distribution of students' progress toward the curriculum‬
‭expectations, which can help educators identify areas of improvement and provide targeted‬
‭support to students who are still working toward the expected levels.‬

‭Team Leaders will identify students sitting within each cohort. They can cross-reference‬
‭students against identified target students and the intervention provided. They can implement‬
‭strategies and differentiate learning to support a specific need where necessary.‬



‭School-Wide Data‬‭Reading‬ ‭by‬‭Year Group‬

‭Year 1:‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭: 77% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within‬

‭or confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭63% are achieving their curriculum expectations.‬

‭Year 2:‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024:‬‭79% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within‬

‭or confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023:‬‭85% are achieving their curriculum expectations.‬

‭Year 3:‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024:‬‭68% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within‬

‭or confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023:‬‭71% are achieving their curriculum expectations.‬

‭Year 4:‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024:‬‭79% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within‬

‭or confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023:‬‭93% are achieving their curriculum expectations.‬

‭Year 5:‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭: 76% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within‬

‭or confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭: 95% are achieving their curriculum expectations.‬

‭Year 6:‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024:‬‭82% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within‬

‭or confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023:‬‭95% are achieving their curriculum expectations.‬

‭Year 7:‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭: 79% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within‬

‭or confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭: 86% are achieving their curriculum expectations.‬

‭Year 8:‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024:‬‭88% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within‬

‭or confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭: 91% are achieving their curriculum expectations.‬

‭So what?‬

‭For Year 1 students;‬
‭14% increase‬
‭For Year 2 students;‬



‭6% drop‬
‭For Year 3 students;‬
‭3% drop‬
‭For Year 4 students;‬
‭14% drop‬
‭For Year 5 students;‬
‭1% drop‬
‭For Year 6 students;‬
‭13% drop‬
‭For Year 7 students;‬
‭7% drop‬
‭For Year 8 students;‬
‭3% drop‬

‭In general, there is a decrease in the percentage of students working within or confidently with‬
‭reading as they progress through the years. Across different year levels, there is a consistent‬
‭identification of a small percentage of students (ranging from 12% to 32%) who need additional‬
‭support to meet the expectations of their respective curriculum levels. In summary, the trends‬
‭suggest an overall positive trajectory in Reading proficiency as students advance through the‬
‭years.‬

‭Team Leaders will identify students sitting within each cohort. They can cross-reference‬
‭students against identified targets and interventions provided. They can implement strategies‬
‭and differentiate learning to support a specific need where necessary.‬

‭School-Wide Data‬‭Mathematics‬‭by‬‭Year Group‬

‭Year 1 students:‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024:‬‭81% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within‬

‭or confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭: 74% are achieving their curriculum expectations.‬

‭Year 2 students:‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024:‬‭87% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within‬

‭or confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭: 98%  are achieving their curriculum expectations.‬

‭Year 3 students:‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭: 76% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within‬

‭or confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭: 79%  are achieving their curriculum expectations.‬

‭Year 4 students:‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024:‬‭85% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within‬

‭or confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭: 89%  are achieving their curriculum expectations.‬



‭Year 5 students:‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024:‬‭87% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within‬

‭or confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭: 93%  are achieving their curriculum expectations.‬

‭Year 6 students:‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭: 80% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within‬

‭or confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023‬‭: 96%  are achieving their curriculum expectations.‬

‭Year 7 students:‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024:‬‭84% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within‬

‭or confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023:‬‭89% are achieving their curriculum expectations.‬

‭Year 8 students:‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2024‬‭: 86% of students are achieving their curriculum‬‭expectations and working within‬

‭or confidently in Writing.‬
‭●‬ ‭In‬‭2023:‬‭86% are achieving their curriculum expectations.‬

‭So what?‬

‭For Year 1 students;‬
‭7% increase‬
‭For Year 2 students;‬
‭11% drop‬
‭For Year 3 students;‬
‭3% drop‬
‭For Year 4 students;‬
‭6% drop‬
‭For Year 5 students;‬
‭6% drop‬
‭For Year 6 students;‬
‭16% increase‬
‭For Year 7 students;‬
‭5% drop‬
‭For Year 8 students;‬
‭No change‬

‭Overall, the data suggests positive performance in Mathematics across most year levels, with a‬
‭focus needed on supporting students who are still working toward meeting the curriculum‬
‭expectations. It's essential to monitor students' progress to ensure they catch up before the end‬
‭of the 2025 school year.‬

‭To improve overall proficiency levels and help students reach their milestones, targeted‬
‭interventions and support can be provided to the students who are "working toward" the‬
‭curriculum expectations.‬



‭Team Leaders will identify students sitting within each cohort. They can cross-reference‬
‭students against identified targets and interventions provided. They can implement strategies‬
‭and differentiate learning to support a specific need where necessary.‬
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Analysis of Variance Reporting  

/ Analysis of Variance - Writing 2024 

 

School Name:  Queenstown Primary School School Number:  4005 

 

Strategic Aim: 

 

 

For all QPS students to be able to access the New Zealand curriculum as evidenced by achievement in the appropriate 

curriculum levels.  

 

Annual Aim:  

 

 

To build the capacity of teachers to have a reflective mindset and effectively inquire into how using the iDeal Structured 

Literacy approach can accelerate all students’ writing. In particular, positively impact on raising the achievement of 

identified Achievement Target Students. 

Target:  

 

 

To improve the achievement level of all students who were identified in the cohort of students achieving below the 

expected curriculum level for Writing. Therefore, to raise overall achievement throughout the curriculum levels. 

 

Baseline Data:  

 

 

 

The 2023 Analysis of Variance report.  

Summary of students Working Towards curriculum levels in Writing from end of year reports. (OTJs) 
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Actions 

What did we do? 

Outcomes  

What happened? 

Reasons for the 

variance  

Why did it happen? 

Evaluation  

Where to next? 

Identify AT students 

who need priority 

support from 2023 EOY 

OTJs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All teachers identified AT students, adding them to 

the Target Students document (as requested by 

the literacy lead). There was robust discussion 

around some student’s names being included or 

not with regards to ethnicity and ESOL 

identification. Completed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

There has been a 

variance in progress 

due to many 

teachers not having 

undergone formal 

training in Structured 

Literacy at the start 

of the year..  

 

 

 

AT students for 2025 will be identified 

using 2024 end of year data and 

grouped on Edge because this will 

prevent double ups of entry data and 

ensure assessment is completed and 

within a timely manner as outlined on 

the assessment schedule. .  

 

In 2024 Structured  Literacy 

Intervention  will  continue for Tier 3 

students, this includes AT students.  

 

ATs will be identified and carefully 

monitored termly.  

2024 AT students were 

identified using 2023 

EOY OTJ data.  

Writing Target Students 

Document 

 

Identified AT student data was held on one 

document and shared with staff to complete 

throughout the year. 

This document was placed on the long term plan 

and also shared with staff when it needed to be 

updated. Many teachers needed to be reminded 

several times to complete this requirement.  

 

No Variance 

 

 

 

 

 

In 2025, this document will no longer 

be required because all relevant data 

will be input into Edge and analysed 

via Assay Analysis by the curriculum 

lead and classroom teachers.  

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/12VnMojXEcFihFv92r8TvNvzPnZj1kCvoIgX54IO0Gh8/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/12VnMojXEcFihFv92r8TvNvzPnZj1kCvoIgX54IO0Gh8/edit?usp=sharing
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2024 AT students were 

identified using 2023 

EOY OTJ data.  

Writing Target Students 

Document 

 

Intervention students identified on Allocation of 

Learning doc and Tier 3 students placed into SL 

Intervention. The students with the highest needs 

worked with the literacy support worker and others 

were supported within the classroom setting with 

additional support by the classroom teacher.  

No Variance Research shows that the later a 

student receives intervention, 

especially in literacy, the more time 

and resources will be required to get 

them achieving at the expected level. 

I would like to discuss starting our 

Tier 3 intervention with year 1 

students, rather than waiting until 

they are in year 3. I would also like 

to discuss Tier 3 intervention 

happening 5 days / week instead of 4 

like it has been currently. With 

approximately 3 years of Tier 3 

support being offered, the numbers 

of students needing intervention 

should decrease. This is not the case 

currently. This aligns with MOE 

stance of as many resources as 

possible being offered as early as 

possible.  

Decodable text reading 

taught throughout the 

year levels level  

Throughout 2024, Decodable Readers continue to 

be used as the main teaching tool from Concepts 1 

to 22 (stage 1).  

 

There was an enquiry in the upper areas of the 

school into the best practices of teaching reading 

and what this looks like in the upper areas of the 

school. Teachers were supported in their teaching 

practice by senior leadership and team leader.  

 

Years 0 - 3: Received Professional Development 

from the MOE via Learning Matters 

Variance 

 

As teachers are 

currently undertaking 

Professional 

Development, 

teachers are in the 

process of feeling 

more confident 

teaching at this level 

and utlising these 

resources.  

 

In Literacy, teachers will continue to 

provide targeted Deliberate Acts of 

Teaching (DATs) in the identified 

areas of need to support the progress 

of students in Structured Literacy. 

 

The MOE are providing Structured 

Literacy Professional Development for 

Years 4-8 in Terms 1 and 2 of 2025. 

Students who are not achieving at 

the expected curriculum level will be 

referred for intervention and will be 

supported by Structured Literacy.  

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/12VnMojXEcFihFv92r8TvNvzPnZj1kCvoIgX54IO0Gh8/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/12VnMojXEcFihFv92r8TvNvzPnZj1kCvoIgX54IO0Gh8/edit?usp=sharing
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As a literacy lead, I have looked at the alignment 

of Structured Literacy instruction with reporting 

guidelines.  

 

 

 

A top up of decodable readers was 

requested within the 2025 Literacy 

Budget to ensure that teachers have 

the necessary resources to provide 

the best possible literacy instruction. 

 

Next year, the literacy lead will 

ensure that the current report 

guidelines align with the change to 

phases vs levels.  

Writing samples used 

for moderation of 

writing and identify next 

steps. 

 

Writing samples analysed and next steps identified 

for AT students in writing and placed in the 

Celebration folders. . 

Teachers supported AT students in class 

 

 

Next steps needed to 

be identified and 

taught with DAT 

No Variance 

 

Teachers identify needs early within 

the school year in accordance with 

the updated assessment schedule. 

Teachers will analyse the most recent 

data to ensure that all students who 

require additional support have been 

identified and making progress.  

If insufficient progress has been 

made, the classroom teacher will 

place a request for support with the 

SENCO. 

Teachers identify needs 

early within the school 

year. Requests for 

support are placed with 

the school SENCO 

 

Teachers referred some underachieving students, 

including ATs to the SENCO when necessary and 

the appropriate actions were taken. Successful 

applications received in class support for teachers 

to support to raise writing achievements. Some 

students were referred to RT Lit, and RTLB.  

 

No Variance 

Document update 

The SENCO will notify the Literacy 

Lead if an AT has received or been 

unsuccessful at receiving additional 

support. Teachers will share the 

names of students who have any 

IEPs with the literacy lead to be 

identified. Edge will display 

categories where we can record URLs 
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and items of a student’s learning 

journey.  

 

 

All information 

regarding AT students in 

reading & writing is 

housed in separate 

documents, with 

students easily 

identifiable in each year 

level.  

 

 

 

Teachers  tracked the progress of their students 

easily and established next steps.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No Variance 

 

 

 

 

 

In 2025, this system will be moved to 

Edge. Students will be grouped by 

Reading, Writing and Maths AT 

students. They will also be easily 

identifiable via their ethnicity, ESOL 

and also which level of support they 

are receiving (tier 2 or tier 3).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATs are identified in teams at the end of 

2023, in preparation for 2025. 

 

 

ATs 

identifi

ed at 

the 

start of 

2024 

Carried 

over 

from 

2023 

Total 

at 

beginn

ing 

2024 

 

Num

ber of 

ESOL 

Number 

of 

Pasifika 

Numbe

r of 

Maori 

Numbe

r that 

left 

QPS in 

2024 

 

 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This data will be taken from Edge.  
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Yr 2 NA 19 7 1 0 2 

 

 

Yr 3  19 8 1 1 1 

 

 

Yr 4  27 9 1 2 0 

 

 

Yr 5   12 4 2 0 0 

 

 

Yr 6  23 4 0 1 2 

 

 

Yr 7   20 1 0 2 1 
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Yr 8  11 1 2 2 0 

 

 

 

 

 

Year 2 Writing 

 

After two years at school, 
students will create texts in 
order to meet the writing 
demands of the New Zealand 
Curriculum at level 1. 
Students will use their writing 
to think about, record, and 
communicate experiences, 
ideas, and information to 
meet specific learning 
purposes across the 6 
curriculum. 

 

 

Year 2 Writing 

 

Beginning 2024 

 

 

Y2 WORKING 
TOWARDS LEVEL 
1 

WORKING 
WITHIN LEVEL 1 

19 19 0 

 

End of year 2024 

Y2 WORKING 
TOWARDS LEVEL 

WORKING 

 

 

 

The variance is that 

2 students left QPS 

throughout the year. 

All positive shifts in 

achievement.  

 

 

 

 

 

Where to Next for 2025 Year 

groups as reflected in the data 

results from beginning to end of 

year 2024. 

 

For all teams to design and 

implement Tier 2 support within their 

classrooms.  

 

For Teachers to continue to 

consistently review the spelling 

concepts to ensure ATs have a sound 

understanding which can be 

transferred into their writing. 
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1 WITHIN LEVEL 1 

17 9 8 

When analysed-  

Year 2 data shows 

 9 AT students have remained WORKING TOWARDS 
LEVEL 1 

8  AT students have made a positive shift to 
WORKING WITHIN LEVEL 1 

2 AT students left during the year 

1 Maori or Pasifika included within this cohort. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To continue to use the QPS School 

Wide Student Writing Assessment.  

This provides teachers and students 

with clear outlines and expectations 

for Writing. 

 

The focus of transferring Spelling into 

Writing should reflect more positive 

shifts in student achievement in 

2025. 

 

Teachers need to continue to be 

familiar with the QPS English 

Curriculum Plan. 

Expectations for writing are clearly 

outlined within this plan. 

 

The purpose for Writing is becoming 

more successful for some of these 

students. 2024 data reflects this 

positive shift and with continued DAT 

this will continue to be evident in 

2025. 

 

To continue to record data on Edge  

and the iDeal platform as per the 

Assessment  

Year 3 Writing 

After three years at school, 
students will create texts in 
order to meet the writing 
demands of the New Zealand 
Curriculum at early level 2. 
Students will use their writing 
to think about, record, and 
communicate experiences, 
ideas, and information to 
meet specific learning 
purposes across the 
curriculum.Year 3 students 
are not expected to be 
working within or confidently 
until the end of Year 4 

 

 

Year 3 Writing 

Beginning 2024 

Y3 WORKING 
TOWARDS 
LEVEL 1 

WORKING 
WITHIN 
LEVEL 1 

WORKING 
CONFIDENTL
Y LEVEL 1 

19 students 19 0 0 

End of year 2024 

Y3 WORKIN

G 

TOWARD

S LEVEL 1 

WORKING 

WITHIN 

LEVEL 1 

WORKING 

CONFIDEN

TLY LEVEL 

1 

WORKING 

CONFIDEN

TLY LEVEL 

2 
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17 

students 

2 1 4 10 

When analysed-  

Year 3 data shows 

7 AT students now WORKING TOWARDS LEVEL 2 

2 AT students have remained WORKING TOWARDS 
LEVEL 1 

1  Maori AT included within this cohort. 

1 Pasifika AT included within this cohort. 

8 ESOL ATs included within this cohort 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 2 AT students left 

QPS throughout the 

year 

All positive shifts in 

achievement.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

iDeal will be compatible with Edge 

from February 2025. 

 

To continue to update ATs progress 

mid year to ensure students are at 

the forefront of teacher’s planning 

and at the end of year to monitor 

progress. 

 

To continue to complete ATs 

Document at Team Meetings to 

ensure the document is completed on 

time and satisfactorily promoting rich 

conversations around best practice. 

 

Highlighted ATs from 2024 to be 

included in 2025.  

 

For the Literacy Leader to continue to 

share all Literacy documents with 

staff early Term 1 and again mid 

year. 

 

To continue to support teachers with 

QPS expectations and exemplars 

 

To continue to ensure time is given 

for new staff to understand the 

Year 4 Writing 

By the end of year 4, 
students will create texts in 
order to meet the writing 
demands of the New Zealand 
Curriculum at level 2. 
Students will use their writing 
to think about, record, and 

communicate experiences, 
ideas, and information to 
meet specific learning 
purposes across the 
curriculum. 

 

 

 

 

Year 4 Writing 

Beginning 2024 

Y4 WORKING 
TOWARDS 
LEVEL 1 

WORKING 
WITHIN 
LEVEL 1 

WORKING 
CONFIDENTL
Y LEVEL 1 

27 students 6 20 1 

End of 2024 

Y4 WORKING 
TOWARDS 
LEVEL 1 

WORKING 
WITHIN 
LEVEL 1 

WORKING 
CONFIDENT
LY LEVEL 1 

WORKING 
TOWARDS 
LEVEL 2 

WORKING 
WITHIN 
LEVEL 2 

26 
studen

2 0 7 10 7 
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ts 

 

When analysed-  

Year 4 data shows 

9 AT students now WORKING TOWARDS LEVEL 2 

2 AT students have remained WORKING TOWARDS 
LEVEL 1 

2 Maori AT included within this cohort. 

1 Pasifika AT included within this cohort. 

9 ESOL ATs included within this cohort 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 student left QPS 

throughout the year 

All positive shifts in 

achievement.  

Literacy expectations including the 

iDeal platform and the SL approach.  

 

To continue to ensure Teachers have 

all the QPS English Curriculum 

information needed in one document 

 

To appoint a  Literacy Leader and 

Team Literacy Leaders for 2024 

 

Teachers will continue to be 

consciously exhibiting the SL spelling 

approach and have high 

expectations. 

 

For Teachers to continue to moderate 

writing and enter data onto e asTTle 

 

For all Teachers to set aside time to 

explain expectations, the coverage 

and next steps. 

 

To continue to move forward with 

explicit Literacy pathways for all 

students and teachers. 

 

Year 5 Writing 

By the end of year 5, 
students will create texts in 
order to meet the writing 
demands of the New Zealand 
Curriculum as they work 
towards level 3. Students will 
use their writing to think 
about, record, and 
communicate experiences, 
ideas, and information to 
meet specific learning 
purposes across the  

 

Year 5 Writing 

Beginning 2024 

Year 5 WORKING 
TOWARDS 

LEVEL 1 

WORKING 
WITHIN 

LEVEL 1 

WORKING 
CONFIDEN

TLY LEVEL 

1 

WORKING 
TOWARDS 

LEVEL 2 

11 students 1 5 0 5 

End of 2024 

Year 5 
WORKING 
TOWARDS 

LEVEL 1 

WORKING 
WITHIN 

LEVEL 1 

WORKING 
CONFIDENT

LY LEVEL 1 

WORKING 
TOWARDS 

LEVEL 2 

WORKING 
WITHIN 

LEVEL 2 

WORKING 
CONFIDENTLY 

LEVEL 2 

WORKING 
TOWARDS 

LEVEL 3 

11 
student

1 1 0 1 3 3 2 

 

No variance 
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s 

 

When analysed-  

Year 5 data shows 

2 AT students now WORKING TOWARDS LEVEL 2 

1 AT student has remained WORKING TOWARDS 
LEVEL 1 

0 Maori AT included within this cohort. 

2 Pasifika AT included within this cohort. 

5 ESOL AT included within this cohort.  

For all Teachers to continue to closely 

monitor progress of AT Students 

Year 6 Writing 

By the end of year 6, 
students will create texts in 
order to meet the writing 
demands of the New Zealand 
Curriculum as they work 
towards level 3. Students will 
use their writing to think 
about, record, and 
communicate experiences, 
ideas, and information to 
meet specific learning 
purposes across the  

 

Year 6 Writing 

Beginning 2024 

Year 6 WORKIN
G 

TOWARD

S LEVEL 1 

WORKIN
G 

WITHIN 

LEVEL 1 

WORKIN
G 

TOWARD

S LEVEL 2 

WORKIN
G 

WITHIN 

LEVEL 2 

WORKIN
G 

TOWARD

S LEVEL 3 

23 
studen
ts 

2 3 4 10 4 

End of 2024 

Y6 
WORKING 

TOWARDS LEVEL 

1 

WORKING 

WITHIN LEVEL 1 

WORKING 

CONFIDENTLY 

LEVEL 1 

WORKING 

WITHIN LEVEL 2 

WORKING 

TOWARDS LEVEL 

3 

WORKING 

WITHIN LEVEL 3 

18 
stu

1 2 2 6 2 5 

5 students left 

throughout QPS. All 

positive shifts in 

achievement.  



  

Ministry of Education | Tātaritanga raraunga Page 12 

Tātaritanga raraunga 

den

ts 

 

When analysed-  

Year 6 data shows 

5 AT students now WORKING TOWARDS LEVEL 2 

1 AT student has remained WORKING TOWARDS 
LEVEL 1 

1 Maori AT included within this cohort. 

2 Pasifika AT included within this cohort. 

5 ESOL AT included within this cohort.  

Year 7 Writing 

By the end of year 7, 
students will create texts in 
order to meet the writing 
demands of The New Zealand 
Curriculum as they work 
towards level 4. Students will 
use their writing to think 
about, record, and 
communicate experiences, 
ideas, and information to 
meet specific learning 
purposes across the 
curriculum 

 

Year 7 Writing 

Beginning 2024 

Year 
7 

WORKIN
G 
WITHIN 
LEVEL 1 

WORKIN
G 
TOWARD
S LEVEL 
2 

WORKING 

WITHIN 

LEVEL 2 

WORKING 
CONFIDENTLY 

LEVEL 2 

WORKIN
G 
TOWARD
S LEVEL 
3 

WORKIN
G 
WITHIN 
LEVEL 3 

16 

student

s 

2 1 10 1 1 1 

End of 2024 

Yea
r 7 

WORKING 
TOWARDS 
LEVEL 2 

WORKING 

WITHIN LEVEL 

2 

WORKING 
TOWARDS 
LEVEL 3 

WORKING 

WITHIN LEVEL 

3 

WORKING 
TOWARDS 
LEVEL 4 
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15 

student

s 

2 2 2 8 1 

 

When analysed-  

Year 7 data shows 

 2 AT students now WORKING TOWARDS LEVEL 2 

 0 AT students remained WORKING WITHIN LEVEL 
1 

 1 Maori AT included within this cohort. 

 0 Pasifika AT included within this cohort. 

 1 ESOL AT included within this cohort.  

Year 8 Writing 

By the end of year 8, 
students will create texts in 
order to meet the writing 
demands of the New Zealand 
Curriculum at level 4. 
Students will use their writing 
to think about, record, and 
communicate experiences, 
ideas, and information to 
meet specific learning 
purposes across the 
curriculum. 

Year 8 Writing 

Beginning 2024 

Year 
8 

WORKING 
TOWARDS 
LEVEL 1 

WORKING 
TOWARDS 
LEVEL 2 

WORKING 

CONFIDENTLY 

 LEVEL 2 

WORKING 
TOWARDS 
LEVEL 3 

13 

student

s 

2 1 3 7 

End of 2024 

Ye
ar 
8 

WORKI
NG 
TOWAR
DS 
LEVEL 
1 

WORKI
NG 
TOWAR
DS 
LEVEL 2 

WORKING 

WITHIN 

 LEVEL 2 

WORKI
NG 
TOWAR
DS 
LEVEL 3 

WORKI
NG 
WITHIN  

LEVEL 3 

WORKI
NG 
TOWAR
DS  

LEVEL 4 

WORKI
NG 
WTIHIN 

LEVEL 4 
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13 

stu

den

ts 

0 1 2 3 4 1 2 

 

When analysed-  

Year 8 data shows 

 1 AT students now WORKING TOWARDS LEVEL 2 

 0 AT students have remained WORKING TOWARDS 
LEVEL 1 

 2 Maori AT included within this cohort. 

 1 Pasifika AT included within this cohort. 

 1 ESOL AT included within this cohort.  

Intervention support 

and strategies 

implemented 

 

 

Year 2 

Explicit teacher modelling of text forms 

RTLB interventions have been implemented and 

successful, along with Tier 2 supports within the 

classroom setting. MOE Structured Literacy PD has 

been provided to those teachers who have not yet 

received it. Therefore, by the end of Term 1 2025, 

all year 2 teachers will have been trained in 

Structured Literacy.  

 

 

 

No Variance 
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Year 3/4 

Explicit teacher modelling of text forms.  

RTLB interventions have been implemented and 

successful. Teachers have appreciated support and 

strategies to help raise achievements.  

Tier 2 and 3 Intervention provided by Literacy 

Support Worker. MOE Structured Literacy PD has 

been provided to those teachers who have not yet 

received it. Therefore, by the end of Term 1 2025, 

all year 3 and 4 teachers will have been trained in 

Structured Literacy.  

 

 

No Variance 

Year 5/6 

RTLB interventions have been implemented and 

successful.  

Explicit teacher modelling of text forms 

SL Intervention provided by the Literacy Support 

Worker 

MOE Structured Literacy PD application has been 

accepted for those teachers who have not yet 

received it. By the end of 2025, all year 5 and 6 

teachers will have been trained in Structured 

Literacy.  

 

No Variance 

Year 7 /8 No Variance 
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RTLB interventions have been implemented and 

successful.  

Tier 3 Intervention is provided by the Literacy 

Support Worker. 

Explicit teacher modelling of text forms 

MOE Structured Literacy PD application has been 

accepted for those teachers who have not yet 

received it. By the end of 2025, all year 7 and 8 

teachers will have been trained in Structured 

Literacy.  

Data on EDGE and iDeal 

as per the Assessment 

schedule 

 

 

Student achievement has been recorded on Edge.  

 

It was expected that iDeal will be compatible with 

Edge by February 2024. However, there are a 

number of coding issues and this is still not 

possible.  

No Variance 

 

 

 

Where to Next 

For Teachers to continue to record 

assessments on Edge and the iDeal 

Platform for 2025. 

 

When available, data will be pulled 

over from iDeal to Edge.  

ATs progress updated 

at midyear and end of 

year on the Target 

student document  

 

 

All data was compiled and analysed by teachers 

and the Literacy Lead.  

No Variance 

 

All teachers will analyse their data 

from Assay Analysis during team 

meetings and share back to the 

curriculum lead of how students are 

being supported and next learning 

steps identified.  

 

To ensure all teaching is explicitly 

tailored for each ATs in 2025 with 

DATS. 
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ATs Document to be 

completed at Team 

Meetings to ensure the 

document is completed 

and all staff within the 

Team are aware of the 

ATs needs 

 

 

 

 

The Literacy Leader  met with the Literacy team to 

ensure all expectations were clear and individual, 

class and team data was collated. 

 

Some Teams completed the Target Student 

Document together, while others did this 

individually. 

 

No Variance 

 

 

 

No Variance 

The recommendation from Literacy 

Leader is for this to continue in 2025. 

ATs added to the ATS 

Document during the 

year must be 

highlighted in RED 

 

Unfortunately, there was miscommunication on 

whether students joining QPS during the middle of 

the year, should be added or not. Therefore, some 

teachers added these students and others did not. 

This created disparity within the data.  

No Variance 

 

 

No AT students will be added 

throughout the year. At the beginning 

of the year, all AT names will be 

given to the Literacy Lead via the 

2024 AT document. The Literacy Lead 

will then transfer those names onto 

Edge and after this process, no 

additional names are to be added.  

Share Analysis of 

Variance 2023   

The Analysis of Variance 2023 was shared with all 

staff early in Term 1. 

 

No Variance 

 

The Analysis of Variance 2024 will be 

shared with all staff in early term 1 

2025.  
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Team Literacy Leaders 

to build knowledge and 

capacity within their 

team members 

The draft curriculum was shared with staff and 

introduced and robust discussions were held 

around the impacts of these changes going 

forward. The draft curriculum was presented at 

TOD in Term 2 2024. 

 

 A new Literacy Lead took over in 2024 and a very 

slow transition process happened due to availability 

of a staff member. The school provided release 

time at the end of 2024 to work on goals and 

further transitions going into 2025.  

 

Induction for new staff around the implementation 

of Structured Literacy, the delivery of reading 

instruction and professional learning was provided 

by the DP and the Literacy Lead at the point of 

need.  

 

Literacy Team members supported staff members.  

No Variance 

 

 

 

 

No Variance 

 

 

No Variance. 

Updated 2023 

The final curriculum is to be 

unpacked at TOD in early 2025 in 

order to understand phases.  

 

 

In 2025 Literacy Leader will provide  

induction, PD and complete 

observations to ensure consistency 

across the school where needed.  

 

Literacy team members worked 

collaboratively to review the Literacy 

and book layout expectations and the 

Guidelines to use the QPS Student 

Writing Assessment, in particular 

providing all required exemplars and 

aligning the ‘My Writing Goals’ rubric 

with the new phases.   

Using the  student / 

Teacher document to 

assess and set goals for 

students 

 

‘My Writing Goals’ rubric was used throughout 

levels 1 and 2.  

 

QPS Student Writing Assessment 

 

No Variance. 

 

‘My Writing Goals’ rubric will be 

aligned with the phases reflected in 

the new curriculum and represented 

in its own document instead of within 

the QPS School Wide Writing 

Assessment.  

 

 

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1OSwNm-3hk6I7DHsrL5rKdjeapdt9Znrws0uN3I-Z_j8/edit
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Share Differentiated 

Road Map with all staff 

 

 

All teachers received the updated Differentiated 

Roadmap and this has been attached to Teacher 

PGC documents. This Roadmap has clear goals and 

expectations for all teachers 

  

Variance occurred 

because teachers are 

at different stages of 

the roadmap 

depending on where 

they are at within 

their Structured 

Literacy journey.  

To be continued in 2025.  

Staff will be supported 

by Literacy team 

members to ensure a 

smooth transition and 

to build teacher 

knowledge  

Most teachers are feeling confident in the teaching 

of Structured  Literacy, however the focus on 

spelling into writing will see some teachers needing 

continued support. 

 

Teacher capacity is being uplifted by the continued 

Structured Literacy PD being offered by MOE and 

within the Learning Matters platform.  

 

 

Variance occurred 

because teachers are 

at different stages of 

the roadmap 

depending on where 

they are at within 

their Structured 

Literacy journey.  

 

To be continued in 2025. 

 Writing  e- asTTle  

 

Whole School and Team moderation meetings 

around e asTTle. DP and the Literacy Lead attended 

PD on e-asTTle.  

No Variance 

 

 

The DP and Literacy Lead will offer 

workshops on how to implement e-

asTTle in alignment with the 

mandated use of assessments 

reflected in the assessment schedule.  

Teachers seek support  

(through Team 

Leaders/ Lit Leaders) to  

improve student 

outcomes 

ATs were discussed regularly as evidenced in Team 

Meeting minutes 

 

No Variance 

 

To be continued in 2025 
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Teacher Observations Teacher observations for spelling and reading did not 

occur due to lack of release time to conduct these.  

 

No Variance 

 

With an increase of CRT release time, 

it will be an expectation that teachers 

observe best practice of colleagues at 

QPS.  

Ensure time is allocated 

at Team Meetings to 

discuss progress and 

best practise 

This happened during fortnightly team meetings. 

In addition, Literacy Team members had time to 

share any relevant feedback from Literacy 

meetings.  

 

 

No Variance 

 

Literacy team members will ensure 

that any relevant information 

continues to be shared at team 

meetings by including this on the 

meeting minutes and shared back to 

the literacy lead.   

 

Monitoring 

Students who continued to be Working Towards,  

remained as Target Students in 2024. 

 

 

 

No Variance 

 

Students who continue to be Working 

Towards are Target Students in 2025. 

Students identified in Writing this 

year but not included in the 2023 

data are to become AT students for 

2025. 

Inform parents via a 

standard letter clearly 

explaining the reason 

for their child’s selection 

as an AT student.  

 

 

 

 

 

Letter sent home at the beginning of the year.  

This was sent home prior to the Parent /Teacher 

meeting held at the beginning of the year, allowing 

for further discussions and explanations  

 

 

 

 

 

 

No variance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Inform parents via a standard letter 

clearly explaining the reason for their 

child’s selection as an AT student. 

Literacy Lead and DP will confirm the 

letters with the principal at the start of 

the year, ready to be shared to 

teaching staff. A letter to parents 

informing them of their child’s 

selection in the Intervention for 

Spelling. 

Continue in 2025 
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Use QPS Literacy  

My Writing Goals  to 

moderate writing 

The QPS My Writing Goals was one component of 

assessment tools for teachers to form OTJs when 

reporting to parents. 

 

 

No variance 

‘My Writing Goals’ rubric will be 

reviewed to align with new phases.  

 

The continued 

implementation of 

strategies school-wide 

from Learning MATTERS 

will have a positive 

impact on raising 

achievement for all 

students in Literacy, 

particularly AT students 

Spelling was timetabled to ensure consistent 

delivery across all areas of the school. 

No Variance  A Structured Literacy approach to 

Literacy will be delivered 4 days per 

week for each year group. Year 3 and 

4 will create their spelling focuses 

together and instruction will happen at 

the same time (Year 5 and 6 and also 

Year 7 and 8) will do the same. 

Instruction will last 20-30 minutes 

based off the needs of the cohort.  

Structured Literacy 

Scope and Sequence 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All teaching staff followed the Structured Literacy 

Scope and Sequence for teaching spelling. 

Reading using decodable text was consistent and 

implemented through the Junior School and where 

needed in the other areas of the school. 

The Learning MATTERS platform is used to observe 

best practice along with in school PD and modelled 

lessons 

 

 

Variance 

 

As teachers are 

currently 

undertaking 

Professional 

Development, 

teachers are in the 

process of feeling 

more confident 

teaching at this level 

and utlising these 

resources.  

Continue in 2025 to ensure 

consistency and sustainability 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1OSwNm-3hk6I7DHsrL5rKdjeapdt9Znrws0uN3I-Z_j8/edit
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Literacy Leader will 

provide PD and 

induction 

Induction for new staff occured as needed 

throughout  2024 through the Structured Literacy 

Support Worker. . 

Staff meetings related to Literacy termly 

No Variance Induction for new staff  as needed for 

Structured Literacy throughout  2025 

by the Structured Literacy Lead.  

Staff Meetings  held to keep teachers 

informed. 

Continue in 2025. 

Make appropriate 

referrals to external 

agencies through the 

SENCO (RTLB, RTLit) 

Identified students were referred to the SENCO.  

Applications for support were placed with RTLB, 

RTLIt and In Class Support for help to develop 

differentiated programmes of support in writing. 

Students were picked up, placed on hold or 

declined. 

No variance  

Referrals were made 

for Literacy 

throughout the year. 

Continue in 2025  

Identify students underachieving early 

in the year allowing time for 

applications to be made, processed 

and implemented. 

Referrals to be placed within the 

SENCO who will request support from 

the MInistry for specialist 

interventions. 

Referrals for Literacy to be discussed 

with the Literacy Leader before action 

taken. 

 

 

Maintain a school-wide 

spelling focus on 

phonological 

awareness, decoding, 

visual-spatial memory 

and auditory memory 

that is delivered within 

literacy programmes. 

 

Structured Literacy Leader provided support to 

ensure all teachers were able to feel confident with 

their delivery of the SL approach 

 

Variance.  

Limited capacity as 

the appropriate staff 

member was in class 

3 days a week with 

no time to do this.  

 

The school to provide release to the 

Structured Literacy Lead when 

required.  
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Provide PLD for 

teachers to better 

understand how to 

make a professional 

judgement for students’ 

achievement. (OTJ) 

Staff meeting was held to ensure consistency 

across all levels of the school  

 

Teachers gained 

understanding about 

the triangulation  

required to form an 

OTJ 

 

Variance in how 

teachers and team 

leaders use data and 

what is given 

priority. 

The Writing Revolution will be 

implemented in 2025 as an approach 

that will be used by the whole school 

to improve and build teacher’s 

pedagogical practice.  

Recommendations for 2025: 

● For the budget for 2025 to be sufficient to purchase Literacy resources. 

● All new staff will receive an induction to Structured Literacy by the Structured Literacy Lead.  

● A school wide focus for 2025 will continue ensure the implementation of skills throughout Reading, Writing, 

Spelling and Phonological Awareness.  

● Literacy Team members will support Team members at a designated time during 2025 Team Meetings. 

● The Literacy Expectations and Book Layout document will be a priority. 

● The English Implementation plan will continue to be reviewed, updated and shared with the teaching staff. 

● The My Writing Goals writing will continue to be reviewed, updated and shared with the teaching staff. 

● The assessment schedule will be agreed and adhered to by all Teams, in alignment with the new MOE 

mandate. 

● Staff Meetings to focus on the implementation of The Writing Revolution approach.  

● For all Teams to unpack and implement strategies from the Writing Revolution Book, as recommended by Ruth 

Blair.  The Writing Revolution - Empower teachers to help students 

 

 

https://www.thewritingrevolution.org/
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Analysis of Variance Reporting  

/ Analysis of Variance - Mathematics 2024 

School Name:  Queenstown Primary School Number:  4005 

 

Strategic Aim: For all QPS students to be able to access the NZC as evidenced by achievement in relation to appropriate curriculum 
levels.   

Annual Aim:  

 

 

To build the capacity of teachers to effectively inquire into their teaching of Mathematics, to increase the acceleration of 
all students. In particular, positively impact in raising the achievement of identified Achievement Target Students. 
 
 

Target:  

 

 

All QPS students identified as underachieving in Mathematics will make progress towards their appropriate curriculum 
level by the end of the year.  

Baseline Data:  

 

 

 

The 2023 Analysis of Variance Report.  
Summary of students level in Mathematics from end of year reports. (OTJs) 
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Actions 
What did we do? 

Outcomes  
What happened? 

Reasons for the variance  
Why did it happen? 

Evaluation  
Where to next? 

 
START OF YEAR PREPARATION 
 

Mathematics Lead Teacher in 
each team to be identified at TOD. 
(A Mathematics Lead Teacher is 
the most confident teacher of 
Mathematics in each team) 
 

The Mathematics Team was 
established at the beginning of the 
year (TOD). 
This led to prompt dissemination 
of 2023 data to each team. 
 

This allowed the Mathematics 
Leads to ‘set the scene’ quickly 
with their team and plan for the 
upcoming term/year. 

Mathematics Lead Teacher in 
each team to be identified at TOD. 
(A Mathematics Lead Teacher is 
the most confident teacher of 
Mathematics in each team) 

Share all Mathematics documents 
with staff early in the year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All Mathematics documents were 
prepared and ready to be shared 
with staff. 
The Analysis of Variance 2023 
was shared and discussed with 
SLT and at the initial Mathematics 
Lead Teachers Meeting. 
All staff were shared the 2023 
Mathematics Curriculum Review 
through the collated ‘book’ of all 
reviews. 
 

To ensure all staff: 
● are kept informed 
● understand the data 

analysis 
● appreciate the reason 

decisions are made. 

Share all Mathematics documents 
with staff early in the year. 

Set time at TOD /  early in the year 
to set Mathematics expectations 
around planning and coverage. 
 
Induction for new staff, to ensure 
new staff understand QPS 
Mathematics expectations. 
 

Completed 
 
 
 
Completed at the beginning of the 
year, facilitated by Mathematics 
Leads at Team and individual 
meetings. 

 
 
 
 
To ensure new staff understand 
QPS Mathematics expectations. 

Set time at TOD /  early in the year 
to set Mathematics expectations 
around planning and coverage. 
 
Induction for new staff, to ensure 
new staff understand QPS 
Mathematics expectations and 
where to find available resources, 
to be included in the TOD 
Induction Programme. 
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ACHIEVEMENT TARGET STUDENTS 

ATS for 2024 will be identified 
using 2023 end of year data. 
 
Collated PAT Mathematics data, 
alongside OTJs and report data, 
will be used to identify progress. 
 

Completed at the beginning of the 
year, facilitated by Mathematics 
Leads at Team Meetings. 

To ensure explicit, targeted 
teaching can begin as soon as 
possible. 

ATS for 2025 will be identified 
using the 2024 
 
 end-of-year data. 
 
Collated PAT Mathematics data, 
alongside OTJs and report data 
will be used to identify progress. 
 
‘Maths No Problem’: assessment 
procedures and data gathering to 
be adhered to. 
 

All ATS will receive differentiated 
intervention programmes, 
sometimes on top of daily lessons, 
monitored by Mathematics Team 
Leads. 

All students in Yr 3-8 have access 
to an online Mathematics 
programme, that ensures 
differentiation and maintenance. 
 

To ensure ATS receive necessary 
support. 

All ATS will participate in the 
‘Maths No Problem’ programme 
within their classroom. 
 
Some ATS will be supported by 
the ‘ALiM’ Programme being 
introduced in 2025. 
 

Deliberate acts of teaching need to 
be prioritised for this cohort. 

ATS received differentiated tasks 
during their full class Mathematics 
lessons. 

Teachers were aware of the ATS 
in their class and planned work 
accordingly. 

Close monitoring and deliberate 
acts of teaching must be prioritised 
for this cohort.  

Further support needs to be given 
to teachers to ensure ATS are 
being prioritised and catered for 
within their classroom 
programmes. 
 

Termly Staff Meetings reflected on 
the needs of ATS. 
 

Staff Meetings were the only forum 
to share Mathematics updates and 
pedagogy. 

As ‘Maths No Problem’ is 
established in the school, teachers 
must ensure ATS are prioritised 
and continue to be catered for 
within the programme. 
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All identified ATS data needs to be 
held on one document and shared 
with the Maths Leader. 
 
This document will be placed on 
the TR site under ATS. 
 

Completed 
 
 
 
 
 
Completed 

To ensure data is easily 
accessible  for monitoring 
purposes. 

All identified AT data will be held 
on Edge for the Mathematics 
Leader and DP assigned to 
Curriculum development. 
 
 

Target Student Document to be 
completed at Team Meetings 
under the guidance of the Team 
Mathematics Lead; to ensure the 
document is completed 
satisfactorily and to encourage 
conversation around best practice. 
 

Well followed up by Mathematics 
Leads and Target Student 
Document completed fully, for 
easy analysis. 

The role and expectations of the 
Mathematics Leads were defined 
at the start of the year. 

Target Students to be regularly 
discussed at Team Meetings. 

Ensure ALL teachers are able to 
access the ‘Assist’ site to view 
class information. 
 
 

Access was confirmed. 
 
 

 Ensure new staff are able to 
access the ‘Assist’ Site to view 
class information. 

Update ATS progress at the end of 
each term to ensure these 
students are at the forefront of the 
teacher's planning. 
 
 
Discussion needs to be had re the 
most suitable data to be used for 
analysis. 
 
 

ATS were monitored at the end of 
Term 2 / Term 4 and frequently 
discussed at Team Meetings. 
 
 
 
Decided to remain status quo till 
2025. 

Termly updates did not show 
progress. 
Allowed the Mathematics Leads to 
monitor progress and liaise with 
the Mathematics Lead Teacher. 
 
The new Mathematics Curriculum 
was only in draft form till late in the 
year and our new provider, ‘Maths 
No Problem’, will be asked to 
contribute to this decision. 
 

Check all students' progress (in 
particular, ATS) in a timely and 
appropriate manner in consultation 
with a ‘Maths No Problem’ 
facilitator. 
 
 
 

Highlighted ATS from 2023 to be 
included in 2024 ATS list.  

Completed  Highlighted ATS from 2024 to be 
included in 2025 ATS list.  
 
Identification of new ATS can be 
added at the start of the year only. 
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All ATS will make progress 
towards their appropriate 
curriculum level by the end of the 
year.  
 

See data Analysis below.  All ATS will make progress 
towards their appropriate 
curriculum level by the end of the 
year. 
 
If a concern arises a referral to the 
SENCO will be required. 
  

 
TEACHING AND LEARNING 

Mathematics will be taught five 
times a week, for one hour per 
day. 
 
 

Mathematics was taught five times 
a week when at all possible. 
 

The overcrowded timetable 
continues to challenge us all but 
this is now a mandate from the 
MOE. 
 

Mathematics will be taught five 
times a week, for one hour per 
day. 
 
At a minimum, all classes will 
follow the ‘Maths No Problem’ 
Programme. 
 

Timetables will be made available, 
through ‘Teacher Resources’ and 
approved by the Principal. 
 

Completed To ensure Mathematics is 
scheduled five times a week. 

Timetables will be made available, 
through ‘Teacher Resources’ and 
approved by the Principal. 
 
Weekly planning will show ‘Maths 
No Problem’ scope and 
sequences. 
 

Continue to record data on EDGE 
as per the Assessment Schedule. 
 

Completed  Continue to record data, as per 
recommendations from ‘Maths No 
Problem’, the Assessment 
Schedule and the MOE. 
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Continue to promote the use of 
materials in all lessons throughout 
all levels. 
 
 
 
Formalise the learning and 
expectations received from 
‘Teacher Learner First’ 
Workshops. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Reinstate ‘incidental’ Mathematics 
across the curriculum. 
 

Most teachers, particularly in the 
lower years, are including 
materials in explicit lessons and 
making them available for 
independent tasks and activities. 
 
During the first Mathematics Staff 
Meeting expectations were 
reiterated. 
Resources were provided to 
ensure the expectations could be 
met. 
Most Staff included specified tasks 
and activities in their planning. 
There has been a noticeable 
improvement in students being 
able to explain their thinking, from 
the rooms where teachers have 
included expected tasks. 
 
This was highlighted at termly 
Mathematics Staff Meetings. 
Some staff took this on board. 

Research supports the use of 
materials across ALL levels.  

 

 

The activities were easy to follow 
and offered variety and value to 
lessons. 

Progress was noticed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

It is a struggle to include all 
concepts and ideas within a 
Mathematics lesson, so 
Mathematics ‘talk’ during the day 
can help to alleviate this. 

The ‘Maths No Problem’ 
programme has an emphasis on 
the use of materials which will 
encourage teachers across the 
school to use them. 
 
Continue to promote the learnings 
from ‘Teacher Learner First’ to 
further enhance our new learning 
with ‘Maths No Problem’. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ensure classrooms have access to 
resources that will facilitate 
‘incidental’ Mathematics across 
the curriculum: thermometers, 
clocks, stopwatches, calendars, 
NWSE signs… 
 

 
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 

Mathematics Team Leads to 
attend the Wanaka Cluster PD 
with ‘The Learner First’, Year 3. 
 
Ensure relievers are secured early 
on. 

Some of the Mathematics Lead 
Teachers attended 3/4 of the 
‘Learner First Workshops’. 
 

Relievers, health and timetabling 
constraints were challenging and 
did not allow for the whole 
Mathematics Team to attend all 
workshops. 

The focus of PD in 2025 will be the 
MOE provided TODs and the 
introduction of the ‘Maths No 
Problem’ programme. 
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Continue to follow ‘The Learner 
First’ PLD structure and the 
dissemination of information. 
 
Continue to follow each workshop 
with a Staff Meeting to ensure 
everyone receives the benefit of 
staff attending this PLD. 
 
A list of ‘Must Do’s’ to be created 
and monitored within Teams.  

New learning was shared at 
Mathematics Staff Meetings 
following each workshop. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As above: in Teaching and 
Learning. 
 

 QPS will not continue with 
‘Teacher Learner First’ in 2025. 

All teachers must be familiar with 
the changes and new expectations 
in the Mathematics Curriculum. 
(This is particularly so for Years 
1-3) 

All staff attended the first MOE 
Workshop to introduce the new 
Mathematics Curriculum. 

This was the start of mandated PD 
being facilitated by the MOE. 

Ensure all mandated PD and 
requirements are arranged, 
starting on 28 January 2025 with 
the second MOE, PLD Workshop. 

Staff will continue to be supported 
by the staff member who sits on 
the Mathematics Team, to build 
capacity of staff within their 
Teams. 

The Mathematics Leads shared 
new learnings with their team and 
worked closely with new staff or 
staff that had changed levels. 

 To build the capacity of staff.  All staff will be included in the 
‘Maths No Problem’ PD. 
(Recorded for future reference) 

 
ASSESSMENT 

Facilitate full Staff Meeting to 
share the use of Assessment 
Tools; to ensure data is used to 
guide teaching and learning, and 
is an expectation. 
 

No Staff Meeting was facilitated 
around the reading and use of the 
data. 
 
 
A few staff used Mathematics PAT 
data to inform their end of year 
teaching. 

Mathematics PAT Testing took 
place at the end of the year and 
staff already knew their coverage 
for the end of Term 4. 
 
Teachers confident in using the 
‘Assist’ site were able to access 
data and plan accordingly. 
 

Schedule a full Staff Workshop at 
the beginning of the year, around 
reading Mathematics PAT data to 
ensure data is used for planning 
and teaching. 
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COMMUNITY EDUCATION 

Parents will better understand the 
Mathematics Curriculum and 
teaching by being welcomed to 
observe Mathematics in practice. 
 

An ‘Open Day’ was held in Term 3  
 
Attendance was low 

 
 
Bad weather and late advertising. 
 

Alongside the Mathematics Team, 
ask ’Maths No Problem’ to help 
facilitate a Parent Information 
Evening. 
 
Follow this with an ‘Open Day’ to 
observe the programme in action. 
 

Planning for next year:  

 

Start of Year Preparation ● TOD at the beginning of the year to ‘set the scene’ - conducted by MOE 
● Mathematics Lead Teacher in each team to be identified at TOD. 
● Share all Mathematics documents with staff early in the year. 
● Ensure time is given for new staff to understand QPS Mathematics expectations and where to 

find available resources. 
● Target Student Document updated and ready to be completed. 

Achievement Target Students ● Continue to collate Mathematics data to identify progress throughout the school. 
● All identified AT data will be held on Edge for the Mathematics Leader and DP assigned to 

Curriculum development. 

Teaching and Learning ● Follow the ‘Maths No Problem' programme. 
● Continue to promote the learnings from ‘Teacher Learner First’ to further enhance our new 

learning with ‘Maths No Problem’. 
● Ensure ALL teachers are able to access the ‘Assist’ site to view class information. 
● Allocate time at Team Meetings to discuss progress and best practice. 
● Continue to promote the use of materials in all lessons throughout the school. 

Professional Development ● MOE PLD days. 
● ‘Maths No Problem’ facilitated workshops 
● Develop an understanding of the ‘Science of Learning’ in Mathematics. 

Assessment ● Continue to provide staff with opportunities to develop a greater understanding of the 
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expectations at each Curriculum Phase; Yr 1-3 / Yr 4-6 / Yr 7-8 
● Mathematics PAT to be administered as per MOE mandate. 
● Facilitate a Staff Workshop around ‘PAT Mathematics Assessments’ so the data is used to guide 

teaching and learning. 

Community Education ● Parent Information Evening, facilitated by ‘Maths No Problem’ and Mathematics Leads 

Budget ● Monitor ‘smaller’ budget closely 
● Use for the purchasing of materials as required by the ‘Maths No Problem’ programme. 

 
Analyse year-end data to provide Analysis of Variance report informing 2026 focus.  
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MATHS DATA ANALYSIS 2024 
 

Yr 1 2024 

Students  identified 
as 2025 ATS  

2025 
TOTAL 

for  
Yr 2 

Boys 6 
Girls 6 

12 

ESOL 
 3 

Maori/Pasifika 
3 
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Yr 2 2024 

Target 
Students 

2024 

Girls Boys 2024 TOTAL 

8 10 18 

ESOL      
5 

Maori/Pasifika 
 0         

When analysed -  
Yr 2 ‘Stage’ data shows 15 out of 17 (1 left) 

students made a positive shift.  
2 students made no shift 

 6 students moved 1 stage 
 9 students moved 2 stages   

 

Carrying over to 2025 2025 
TOTAL 

for  
Yr 3 

Boys 10 
Girls 4 

14 

ESOL 
4   

Maori/Pasifika 
0 
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Yr 3 2024 

Target 
Students 

2024 

Girls Boys 2024 TOTAL 

19 7 26 

ESOL                        
10 

Maori/Pasifika 
3 

When analysed -  
Yr 3 ‘Stage’ data shows 25 out of 26 

students made a positive shift.  
1 students made no shift 

15 students moved 1 stage 
 7 students moved 2 stages  
3 students moved 3 stages 

Carrying over to 2025 2025 
TOTAL 

for  
Yr 4 

Boys 4 
Girls 13 

17 

ESOL 
6             

Maori/Pasifika 
0 
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Yr 4 2024 

Target 
Students 

2024 

Girls Boys 2024 TOTAL 

17 16 33 

ESOL                        
7 

Maori/Pasifika 
3  

When analysed -  
Yr 4 ‘Stage’ data shows 21 out of 31 (2 left) 

students made a positive shift.  
10 students made no shift 
16 students moved 1 stage 
4 students moved 2 stages  
1 student moved 3 stages 

Carrying over to 2025 
 

2025 
TOTAL 

for  
Yr 5 

Boys 11 
Girls 11 

22 

ESOL 
6 

Maori/Pasifika 
6 
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Yr 5 2024 

Target 
Students 

2024 

Girls Boys 2024 TOTAL 

12 6 18 

ESOL 
3 

Maori/Pasifika 
4 

When analysed -  
Yr 5 ‘Stage’ data shows 15 out of 18 

students made a positive shift.  
3 students made no shift 

 15 students moved 1 stage 

Carrying over to 2025 2025 
TOTAL 

for  
Yr 6 

Boys 4 
Girls 7 

11 

ESOL 
2 

Maori/Pasifika 
4 
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Yr 6 2024 

Target 
Students 

2024 

Girls Boys 2024 TOTAL 

18 8 26 

ESOL 
4 

Maori/Pasifika 
2 

When analysed -  
Yr 6 ‘Stage’ data shows 18 out of 24 (2 left)   

students made a positive shift.  
6 students made no shift 

16 students moved 1 stage 
2 students moved 2 stages 

 

Carrying over to 2025 2025 
TOTAL 

for  
Yr 7 

Boys 7 
Girls 14 

21 

ESOL 
3 

Maori/Pasifika 
2 
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Yr 7 2024 

Target 
Students 

2024 

Girls Boys 2024 TOTAL 

7 9 16 

ESOL 
5 

Maori/Pasifika 
1 

When analysed -  
Yr 7 ‘Stage’ data shows 3 out of 12 

students made a positive shift.  
9 students made no shift 

3 students moved 1 stage 
 

4 students had no ‘stage’ data to  
make a comparison.  

PAT testing only, which showed some had 
made a small improvement. 

Carrying over to 2025 2025 
TOTAL 

for  
Yr 8 

Boys 8 
Girls 6 

14 

ESOL 
5 

Maori/Pasifika 
1 
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Yr 8 2024 

Target 
Students 

2024 

Girls Boys 2024 TOTAL 

9 7 16 

ESOL 
0 

Maori/Pasifika 
2 

When analysed -  
Yr 8 ‘Stage’ data shows 3 out of 8 

students made a positive shift.  
5 students made no shift 

3 students moved 1 stage 
 

8 students had no ‘stage’ data to  
make a comparison.  

PAT testing only, which showed some had 
made a small improvement. 

 
 



Mātauranga Māori at Te Kura Tuatahi o Tāhuna 

 

At Te Kura Tuatahi o Tāhuna we are a Tiriti o Waitangi partner. Therefore, our expectations are 
that teachers will understand the principles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi and share this knowledge with 
tamariki. Queenstown Primary School is a ‘Māori Achievement Collaborative’ (MAC) School. The 
goal of the National Collaborative is to raise Māori Achievement - ‘Māori achieving as Māori.’ 

We are committed to using Te Reo Māori. Karakia starts and closes our school day in each and 
every classroom. Students will be taught and have weekly opportunities to sing our school 
waiata, Ko te Aroha. A curriculum plan for the teaching of Te Reo and Tikanga Māori is now 
embedded across the school. This allows for scaƯolded teaching and learning opportunities as 
Tamariki progress through our kura. 

Te Reo me ngā Tikanga Māori 

Taught within all classrooms.  

Kapa Haka 

Available to all students; optional. 

Hāngī 

Learning the process of traditional cooking and partaking in a feast. 

Matariki: 

Learning about and acknowledging the Māori New Year. 

Curriculum 

"The New Zealand Curriculum acknowledges the principles of the Treaty of Waitangi and the 
bicultural foundations of Aotearoa New Zealand. All students have the opportunity to acquire 
knowledge of te reo Maori me onå tikanga." (NZ Curriculum p.9) 

At QPS we oƯer the students a range of Māori opportunities and experiences. 

Our Teaching and Learning Programmes for Te Reo me ngā Tikanga Maori are based on the 

following guidelines; 

 

 



We use a variety of resources to support our teaching and learning programmes 

 

 

TIKĀNGA 
At the end of 2022 we reviewed our expectations for all staƯ to make an eƯort to demonstrate 
the following expectations throughout the year. These will now be further developed. 
We will use Māori greetings throughout the 
day. 

Learn about Tāne and Wāhine roles. 
 

All teams will start and end the day with a 
karakia. 
 

Identify strengths within the staƯ. 
 

We will learn our school waiata, “Ko te 
Aroha” 
and will be able to use the actions. 
 

Correct use of macrons when writing and 
speaking. 
 

We will use te reo for numbers, dates and 
days 
of the week, weather and seasons, our 
feelings 
and some instructions. 
 

DOT’s a third portion focussed on Maori 
ākonga. 
 

Te Reo Māori display will be placed in the 
staƯroom 
 

Design the Pou for QPS (property) 
 

Kapa Haka leaders will be acknowledged. Build on the cultural narrative of QPS and 
make it visible and tangible throughout our 
environment. 
 

Kapa Haka available to all year levels. (Pēpē, 
Tēina, Tuākana) 
 

Understand the diƯerence between the 
Treaty of Waitangi and Te Tiriti o Waitangi. 
 

Principal will use this evidence to sign oƯ 
registrations. 
 

Demonstrate Māori cultural sensitivity. 
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Compliance with the Good Employer Policy 
  
The School Board of Queenstown Primary School: 

● Has developed and implemented appropriate policies which promote high levels of 
staff performance and recognise the needs of students; 

● Has reviewed its compliance with these policies and can report that it meets all the 
requirements identified and is in accordance with best practice; 

● Is a good employer and complies with all conditions included within employee 
contracts; 

● Ensures all employees are treated fairly, without bias or discrimination; 
● Meets all EEO requirements. 
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Kiwisport Funding Report: Queenstown Primary School 2024 

Operational funding received for Kiwisport Funding (Year 1-8) in 2024 was $9,663.28 based on a 
student roll of 637. 

Kiwisport funding has been used to increase the number of children participating in organised 
sport by providing equipment, coaching resources, sports uniforms and assisting financially with 
opportunities for students to be part of local, zone and provincial competitions. 

Sports equipment and teaching resources have been purchased to aid the PE Specialist and 
classroom teachers upskill our students in their fundamental movement skills development. 
This has also helped develop students’ confidence and ability to participate in a variety of sports 
including Netball, Touch Rugby, Athletics, Rippa Rugby, Gymnastics, Cricket, Triathlon, 
Mountain Biking and Orienteering. 

Funding has been used to develop our Physical Activity Leader (PALs) training and Girls Only 
programs which have both led to increased student leadership and increased participation in 
organised sports. 

With this funding, we are able to financially support students with signing up for organised school 
competitions such as Netball, Rippa Rugby and Touch.  It is also used to pay for fees for students 
to represent our school at Wakatipu and Central Otago Champs plus any other sporting 
competitions that involve our students representing the school in sport.  It allows us to help with 
transportation costs of our school teams to travel to Inter-school competitions in the Wakatipu 
Basin and at Central Otago level. 
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